# Grammar Reference Handbook (Ukrainian)

Developed by US Peace Corps Ukraine Language Staff

### INTRODUCTION

"Ukrainian Grammar Reference Handbook" is the guide that can be used as additional material to the Language manual in Ukrainian for independent language studying.

The material, given in the handbook is based on the academic approach to studying Ukrainian grammar.

"Ukrainian Grammar Reference Handbook" contains basic information about:

the changeable parts of speech:

- Noun
- Adjective
- Pronoun
- Numeral
- Verb
- Participle

the unchangeable parts of speech:

- Modals
- Adverb
- Conjunction
- Preposition
- Verbal Adverb
- Interjections

Ukrainian grammar in this handbook is presented in tables with explanations. The exceptions of certain grammar phenomena are given in special notes after the tables.

At the end of the handbook there is a Verb Table of verbs given in the Language manual. In the Verb Table the aspectual pairs of the infinitives with their conjugation and case government are presented.

# Contents

1.	Helpful Abbreviations	4
2.	Parts of Speech	5
3.	Noun	6
4.	Adjective	11
5.	Pronoun	13
6.	Numeral	17
7.	Verb	20
8.	Modals	28
9.	Adverb	29
10.	Conjunction	31
11.	Preposition	32
12.	The Participle	33
13.	The Verbal Adverb	35
14.	Conditional	37
15.	Interjections	37
16.	Verb table	38

# **Helpful Abbreviations**

anim.	animate noun
inanim.	inanimate noun
sg	singular
pl	plural
m	masculine gender
f	feminine gender
n	neuter gender
Nom.	Nominative Case
Gen.	Genitive Case
Dat.	Dative Case
Acc.	Accusative Case
Instr.	Instrumental Case
Loc.	<b>Locative Case</b>
Voc.	Vocative Case
e.g.	for example

# **PARTS OF SPEECH**

In Ukrainian, as in other languages, all words are divided into certain classes by their meaning, grammatical properties and function in a sentence. Ukrainian words fall into the following parts of speech: **noun, pronoun, adjective, verb, numeral, adverb-** independent parts of speech; **prepositions, conjunctions, particles, interjections-** form-words.

In Ukrainian noun, pronoun, adjective, numeral, and verb are inflected (they take different endings or change depending on their function in the sentence). The other parts of speech are not inflected (they do not change their form).

# Changeable parts of speech

Parts of speech	Function	Example
Noun	Denotes things, living beings	Стіл-table
	or certain facts or phenomena.	Студент-student
Pronoun	Denotes people or things, their	Я-І
	quality and number but does	Хто-who
	not name them Мій-ту	
Adjective	Denotes a property or quality	Новий-new
	of an object	Великий-big
Numeral	Denotes number or order of Один-one	
	objects in counting	Перший-fist
<b>Verb</b> Expresses action or state of		Читати-to read
	being Писати-to write	

# Unchangeable parts of speech.

Parts of speech	Function	Example
Adverb	Denotes additional	Зараз-now
	circumstances attending the	Добре-well
	action o the state of being.	
Preposition	Serves to show the relations	B-in
	of nouns to other words in a	Ha-on
	sentence	3-from
Conjunction	Is used to connect words or	I-and
	sentences.	Але-but
Particle	Gives a word or sentence an	Теж-too
	additional shade or	Тільки-only
	meaning.	
Interjection	Expresses feelings,	Ox!-Ah!
	emotions, intentions,	

# **NOUN**

There are no definite or indefinite articles before nouns and other parts of speech in Ukrainian.

# **The Gender of Nouns.**

All Ukrainian nouns belong to one of three different categories, depending on what the ending or the last letter of the stem is. These three categories, known as genders, are **masculine**, **feminine** and **neuter**. It is necessary to know the gender of a noun to know which ending should be added, to modify it with an adjective, pronoun or to form its plural. The gender of a noun may be defined by its ending in vocabulary form:

Gender	Endings	Examples	The end of the
			stem
	-	Стіл	Hard consonant
m	-й	Музей	Soft consonant
	-Ь	Учитель	Soft consonant
	-a	Сестра	Hard consonant
f	-Я	Земля	Soft consonant
	-Ь	Сіль	Soft consonant
	-0	Вікно	Hard consonant
n	-e	Mope	Hard consonant
	-Я	Ім'я	Last consonant -M

### Comments:

- 1. Masculine nouns tend to end in a consonant (hard or soft); while feminine nouns tend to e in -a (or  $-\pi$ ).
- 2. Many neuter nouns end in —o or e: місто, місце. They represent the smallest gender group in Ukrainian.
  - It is hard to explain why a noun belongs to a gender group. For nounsthath denote people the gender is often distinguished by their meaning, not their grammatical ending: дядько, батько.
- 3. All nouns are referred to definite personal pronouns, and it does not matter whether these nouns denote animate orinanimatee nouns:

m	він
f	вона
n	воно

- 4. Animate nouns answer the question **xτo**? (who?). Inanimate nouns answer the question **ψo**? (what?).
- 5. There is a number of exceptions from the general rule of gender definition. e.g. піч, ніч (f), питання, весілля, курча (n), собака (m). Nouns which in singular end into -i and are foreign by origin belong to neuter (таксі, журі. Вит. леді)

# **Cases**

Ukrainian is an inflected language. This means that endings in Ukrainian nouns and their modifiers (adjectives, pronouns or ordinal numerals) are changed according to function of the word in a sentence. Different functions are signaled by the use of one of the seven cases of the Ukrainian language.

Case	When used	Example
Nom.	1. As a subject in a sentence	1. Студент пише.
	2. As a compound nominative predicate.	2. Петро – студент.
Gen.	1. After negative words немає, не було, не	1. У мене немає кави.
	буде.	Тут не було машини.
		Завтра не буде дощу.
	2. After preposition <b>6e3.</b>	2. Чай без цукру.
	3. After cardinal numerals 5 (except those	3. Тут 6 <b>студентів</b> .
	compound numerals which end in 1,2,3,4).	But: У кімнаті 24 студенти.
	The plural form of Gen. Case is used here.	(Nom.pl.)
	4. After the word <b>скільки</b> and words which	4. Скільки <b>молока</b> ? – Літр
	denote the measure of substance.	молока.
	<ol> <li>After the words denoting quantity: (не)</li> <li>багато, мало, трохи.</li> </ol>	5. Багато риби, мало хліба.
	6. Telling the date.	6. Мій день народження
	or reming the difference	шостого травня.
		But: Сьогодні шосте <b>травня</b> .
	7. To denote direction after prepositions до, від,	7. Я йду з магазину. Лист від
	3-in the meaning <b>from.</b>	д <b>івчини</b> . Ми їдемо до Києва.
	8. To denote relative surroundings after	8. Я живу біля <b>пошти</b> ,
	prepositions біля, коло, (не) далеко від,	навпроти банку.
	навпроти, справа від, зліва від.	
	9. To denote possession (expresses the relations	9. Будинок мами.
	which correspond to English preposition of).	
	10. Speaking about time.	10. Минулого тижня,
	1 0	наступного разу.
Dat.	<ol> <li>To denote a person toward whom the action is directed.</li> </ol>	1. Я пишу лист брату.
	2. To speak about someone's age.	2. Студенту 22 роки.
	3. To denote a person to whom physical/	<ol> <li>Дівчині сумно.</li> </ol>
	psychological state is ascribed.	
	4. To denote the subject of the action before	4. Сестрі не можна співати.
	modal verbs (не) треба, (не) можна, (не)	
A	потрібно.	1 0 0
Acc.	1. To denote the direct object of the action.	1. Я люблю каву.
	2. To denote direction after prepositions y (B),	2. Ми йшли у школу.
	Ha.	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
	3. To denote time speaking about the days of	3. Зустріч у суботу.
	week after prepositions y/B.  4. To denote time in future after preposition	4 Vnor war an an an an-
	4. To denote time in future after preposition	4. Урок через годину.
	через.	

	5. As an object of speech or thought after	5. Я пишу про батька.
	preposition про.	
Instr.	1. To denote the instrument with the help of	1. Я пишу ручкою.
	which the action is carried out.	
	2. To denote profession or occupation with the	2. Він працює учителем.
	verbs працювати, цікавитися, займатися,	Ми цікавимося історією.
	стати, бути.	
	3. To denote location after prepositions над,	3. Ваза під вікном.
	під, поряд з, перед, за, між.	
	4. After preposition 3.	4. Чай з молоком.
	5. To talk about means of transportation.	5. Я їхала автобусом.
Loc.	1. To denote the location after prepositions y	1. Я живу в Україні. Вони
	(в), на.	працюють на пошті.
	2. To denote time speaking about months and	2. У січні. О першій годині.
	hours.	
	3. To speak about means of transportation after	3. Ми їхали на автобусі.
	preposition на.	-
Voc.	1. As a form of address.	Привіт, Олено! Добрий вечір,
		Романе!

The endings of nouns in the Nom.Case singular, if there are any, should be dropped before you start to change the form of the word and add the endings of other cases: **Кава - немає кави.** 

# Comments to the table of Case endings.

### The Nominative Case. Plural form.

Gender	Ending/ last letter in Singular	Example	Ending in Plural	Example
m	hard consonant	лимон	-И	лимони
f	-a	сестра		сестри
m	-ь -й	учитель	-i/-ï	учителі
f		музей		музеї
	-я -ія	сім'я		сім'є
		лекція		лекції
n	-O	село	-a	села
	-e	море	-Я	моря

### Some nouns have plural form only:

e.g. гроші, двері, штани, окуляри, ножиці, etc.

Some nouns have the same form for singular and plural:

e.g. питання, завдання.

# The Genitive Case singular

Due to historical changes, nouns of masculine singular ending in a consonant take ending  $-a(-\pi)$  /  $-y(-\omega)$  in the Genitive Case singular. Here are some tips which will help you to choose the correct ending:

-а /-я		-у /-ю		
Nouns that denote:	Examples	Nouns that denote:	Examples	
People: names, surnames, occupation	бізнесмена, Павла	Substance, material	меду, чаю but: хліба	
Names of objects, things	телевізора, стола	Collective notions	класу, ансамблю	
Names of cities, towns, villages	Києва, Тернополя	Names of buildings, constructions	вокзалу, банку	
Measurements of weight and time, days of the week, months	Кілограма Вівторка Січня Але: року	Names of organizations, institutions, establishments.	Інституту Банку Музею	
Names of monetary units.	долара	Names of nature phenomena.	Морозу вітру	
Names of the trees and animals	Клена Півня	Names of games and dances	Футболу вальсу	
		Names of rivers, lakes, mountains, countries, regions	Криму, Рейну	

# The Genitive Case. Plural form

Gender	Nominative Case		Genitiv	ve Case
	Ending/ last letter	Example	Ending	Example
m	Cons.	Інститут	-iB	Інститутів
n	-e	море		Морів
f	-Я	Сім'я	-ей	Сімей
	<b>-</b> 4	ніч		Ночей
f	-ія	історія	-ій	Історій
f	-a	Кімната	-	Кімнат
n	-0	вікно		вікон

Some nouns which have a combination of two consonants in the Nominative case singular, take endings -o or -e  $(-\epsilon)$  in the Genitive Case plural.

- -o appears:
- 1) in noun which have –K after consonant of the stem: дочки дочок;
- 2) in such nouns as: iгри iгор.
- -е (- $\epsilon$ ) appears in the rest of the nouns: сестри –сестер.

# Memorize:

Люди - людей

Діти – дітей

Гроші – грошей

Друзі – друзів

Час – часу

### The Dative Case. Plural Form

Nouns of all genders have the endings -am, -ям.

Gender	Nom.	Dat.
m	Лимон, музей	Лимонам, музеям
f	Піца, сім'я	Піцам, сім'ям
n	Яблуко, море	Яблукам, морям

Animate nouns of masculine gender singular may take either endings –y (-ю) or –ові (- еві, єві). Both variants are possible:

e.g. Я пишу листа Джону.

Я пишу листа Джонові.

### The Accusative Case.

**Inanimate masculine** and **neuter** nouns singular and plural and **feminine** nouns plural will take the same ending in the Accusative case as in the Nominative case, while the **Animate** nouns **masculine** will take the same ending as in the Genitive case.

Gender	Nom.	Acc.		
m				
Inanimate, Animate	Лимон, інженер	Лимон, інженера		
Singular, Plural	Лимони, інженери	Лимони, інженерів		
f				
Plural	Піци, олії	Піци, олії		
n				
Singular,	Яблуко, море	Яблуко, море		
Plural	Яблука, моря	Яблука, моря		

### The Instrumental Case. Plural form.

Nouns of all genders have endings – ами, -ями.

Gender	Nom.	Instr.		
m	Лимон, музей	Лимонами, музеями		
f	Піца, сім'я	Піцами, сім'ями		
n	Яблуко, море	Яблуками, морями		

# The Locative Case. Singular form. Plural form

Some nouns in Locative Case **singular** form have ending -y.

### Memorize:

Nom.	Loc.
парк	у парку
будинок	у будинку
степ	у степу
цирк	у цирку
Крим	у Криму
шлях	на шляху
літак	на літаку
сніг	на снігу

Nouns of French origin do not change in Locative Case. e.g. **кафе - у кафе, таксі - на таксі, метро - на метро**. In plural nouns of all genders have endings **-ах, -ях**.

Gender	Nom.	Loc.			
m.	Лимон, музей	(у) лимонах, (у) музеях			
f.	Піца, сім'я	(у)піцах, (у)сім'ях			
n.	Яблуко, море	(у)яблуках, (на) морях			

### The Vocative Case.

In Ukrainian, the Vocative Case is used when addressing someone. The nouns take certain endings depending on their gender (masculine or feminine).

**Masculine** nouns with a stem ending in a consonant or  $-\mathbf{o}$ , have the ending  $-\mathbf{e}$  in the Vocative Case singular, while those with the soft stem ending in a consonant take the ending  $-\mathbf{o}$ . **Feminine** nouns ending in the letter  $-\mathbf{a}$ , drop the ending  $-\mathbf{a}$  and receive the ending  $-\mathbf{o}$ , while those ending with the letter  $-\mathbf{g}$  drop this letter and receive the letter  $-\mathbf{w}$ . Those ending in  $-\mathbf{i}\mathbf{g}$ , drop  $-\mathbf{g}$  and receive the ending  $-\mathbf{c}$ .

Gender	Nom.	Voc.	
	Роман	Романе	
m	Петро	Петре	
	учитель	учителю	
	Мама	Мамо	
f	Таня	Таню	
•	Марія	Mapi $\epsilon$	

This table is detailed, but still there are some exceptions from the general rules which are not mentioned here. All modifiers (pronouns, adjectives, numerals) agree in gender, number and case with the noun they modify.

### **ADJECTIVE**

# The gender of the adjective

Ukrainian adjectives agree in number, gender and case with the nouns they modify and answer the questions який? (m), яка? (f), яке? (n), які? (pl) (What kind? Which?). The plural form is the same for all genders.

Gender	Question	Example
m	Який?	Новий будинок
		Синій колір
f	Яка?	Нова кімната
		Синя спідниця
n	Яке?	Нове кафе
		Синє пальто
pl	Які?	Нові туфлі
		Сині шорти

There are different types of adjectives that depend on the last letter of the stem.

Case	m	f	n	pl
Nom.	-ий	-a	-e	-i
	- <b>ій</b> , if stem in soft	-я	-€	-i
Gen.	-ого	-oï	-0ГО	-их
	-ого	-oï	-0ГО	-ix
Dat.	-ому	-ій	-ому	-им
	-ому	-ій	-ому	-ім
Acc.	Inanimate=Nom. Animate=Gen.	-у -ю	As Nom.	Inanimate=Nom. Animate=Gen.
Instr.	-им -ім	-0Ю	-им -ім	-ими -іми
Loc.	-omy/im -omy/im	-ій -ій	-omy/im -omy/im	-их -ix

In Ukrainian there are also compound adjectives, two parts of which are connected by letters -o or -e (the adjective ending of the first part is cut off).

e.g. темний + червоний = темн +  $-\mathbf{0}$  + червоний = темно- червоний, яскраво- жовтий, світло- сірий.

# The degrees of comparison of adjectives

The degree of comparison of Ukrainian adjectives is formed in two ways: simple and compound forms.

# Simple form.

The comparative degree is formed by means of the suffixes **-m**, **-im**, which are added to the stem of the adjective.

e.g. короткий - коротший - найкоротший.

Positive degree	Stem	Suffix	Ending	Comparativ e degree	Prefix	Superlative degree
новий	нов-	-іш-	According to gender	новіший	най-	найновіший
короткий	корот-	-III-	According to gender	коротший	най-	найкоротший

We use this form of the **superlative** degree, when we do not compare some kind of quality with another one.

The **comparative** and **superlative** degrees change according to the gender and number: **холодніша** (m), **холодніша** (f), **холодніше** (n), **холодніші** (pl).

### Memorize:

Some adjectives change their stem when forming the **Comparative** and **Superlative** degree:

a) the suffixes  $-\kappa$ ,  $-\kappa$ -,  $-\epsilon\kappa$ - are dropped:

e.g. короткий -коротший - найкоротший.

- b) the consonant -3 + suffix  $-\mathbf{m}$  and  $-\mathbf{r}$  + suffix  $-\mathbf{m}$  are changed into -жч:
- e.g. дорогий дорожчий найдорожчий.
- c) the consonant  $-\mathbf{c}$  + suffix  $-\mathbf{m}$  are changed into  $-\mathbf{m}$ -:
- e.g. високий вищий найвищий.

If we want to compare two objects, we can do it in two ways:

- 1. Чай дешевший, **ніж кава**. (Nom.)
- 2. Чай дешевший за каву. (Gen.)

If we want to tell that something is the best (as compared to other people or objects), we add the pronoun від усіх (за всіх) to the Simple form of the Comparative degree:

Е.g. Цей спортсмен сильніший за всіх. This sportsman is the strongest one.

Ця дівчина красивіша від усіх. This girl is the most beautiful.

# Compound form.

The Comparative degree is formed by means of the words **більш** (more) or **менш** (less), that precede the adjective.

The Superlative degree is formed by means of the word **найбільш** (the most) / **найменш** (the least), preceding the adjective.

Gender	Positive	Comparati	ve degree	Superlative degree		
	degree					
m	високий		високий		високий	
f	висока	більш/менш	висока	найбільш/найменш	висока	
n	високе		високе		високе	
pl	високі		високі		високі	

We use this form of the superlative degree, when we do not compare the quality of two or more objects.

Some Ukrainian adjectives have irregular forms of the Comparative degree:

Adjective	Comparative degree	Superlative degree
поганий	гірший	найгірший
великий	більший	найбільший
добрий	кращий	найкращий
маленький	менший	найменший

# **PRONOUN**

All Ukrainian pronouns fall into certain groups. They are: personal, reflexive, possessive, demonstrative, definite, interrogative, relative, negative, indefinite.

In this section only several groups are under consideration.

# **Personal pronouns**

Like nouns, personal pronouns change their form i.e. decline, in accordance with their function in the sentence. In the third person singular, they always indicate the gender of the noun they represent:

е.д. стіл – він (he), лампа – вона (she), вікно – воно (it).

The Nominative case of the personal pronouns is:

Nom.	Ι	You(sing.)	he	she	it	we	You(pl.)	they
	Я	ти	він	вона	воно	МИ	ви	вони

The singular form of you -Tu - signals familiarity. Thus, it is used only when addressing children, close relatives, or people with whom you have established a close friendship. The plural form of you -Bu - is recommended for formal situations, and relationships that are only at an introductory stage. This form will always govern a plural verb or predicate, even when it refers to a single individual.

# The table of case forms

Nom.	Я	ти	він	вона	воно	МИ	ви	вони
Gen.	(у) мене	(у) тебе	Його/	Ϊï/	Його/	(у)нас	(у) вас	Ïx/
			у нього	у неї	у нього			у них
Dat.	мені	тобі	йому	їй	йому	нам	вам	ïM
Acc.	мене	тебе	його	ïï	його	нас	вас	ïx
Instr.	Зі мною	3 тобою	3 ним	3 нею	3 ним	3 нами	3 вами	3 ними
Loc.	На мені	На тобі	На ньому	На ній	На	На нас	На вас	На них
					ньому			

The letter "H" is used before Personal Pronoun if it is used with prepositions.

# **Possessive pronouns**

My				7	Your (sg/in	formal)		
Case	m	f	n	pl	m	f	n	pl
Nom	мій	МОЯ	мо€	мої	твій	твоя	тво€	твої
Gen.	МОГО	моєї	мого	моїх	твого	твоєї	твого	твоїх
Dat.	моєму	моїй	моєму	моїм	тво€му	твоїй	твоєму	твоїм
Acc.	мого(an.) мій(inan.)	мою	мо€	моїх(an.) мої(inan.)	твого(an.) твій(inan.)	ТВОЮ	тво€	TBOÏX (an.) TBOÏ (inan.)
Instr	з моїм	3 моєю	з моїм	з моїми	з твоїм	3 твоєю	з твоїм	3 ТВОЇМИ
Loc.	на моєму	на моїй	на моєму	на моїх	на твоєму	на твоїй	на твоєму	на твоїх

Case		Our			Your (pl/formal)			
	m	f	n	pl	m	f	n	pl
Nom	наш	наша	наше	наші	ваш	ваша	ваше	ваші
Gen.	нашого	нашої	нашого	наших	вашого	вашої	вашого	ваших
Dat.	нашому	нашій	нашому	нашим	вашому	вашій	вашому	вашим
Acc.	Нашого (an.) наш(inan.)	нашу	наше	наших(an.) наші(inan.)	Вашого (an.) ваш(inan.)	вашу	ваше	Ваших (an.) Ваші (inan.)
Instr	(з) нашим	(з) нашою	(з) нашим	(з)нашими	(з)вашим	(3) вашою	(3) вашим	(3) вашим и
Loc.	(на) нашому	(на) нашій	(на) нашому	(на) наших	(на)вашому	(на) вашій	(на) вашому	(на) ваших

Accusative Case of possessive pronoun animate equal Genitive Case of the third person of personal pronouns – μογο\ his, ii\her, ix\their are used for all cases.

# **Interrogative pronouns**

If it is necessary to ask the question to personal or possessive pronouns, interrogative pronouns are used as question words.

Case	Who?	What?	Whose?	Whose?	Whose?	Whose?
			m	f	n	pl
Nom.	хто	що	чий	чия	чиє	чиї
Gen.	кого	чого	чийого	чиєї	чийого	чиїх
Dat.	кому	чому	чийому	чиїй	чийому	чиїм
Acc.	кого	що	чийого(anim.)	чию	чий	чиїх(anim.)
			чий(inanim.)			чиї(nanim.)
Instr.	(з) ким	(з) чим	(з) чиїм	(з) чиєю	(з) чиїм	(з) чиїми
Loc.	(на)	(на)	(на)чийому	(на) чиїй	(на)чийому	(на) чиїх
	кому	чому				

Interrogative pronouns **xTO?** and **MO?** do not have gender and number, and are used for all genders and numbers.

Masculine singular form of the verb is used for all genders and numbers after question word xTO? if the verb is used in Past Tense:

- Прийшов (т) Роман.
- e.g. **Хто** прийшо**в** (**m**)? Прийшл**а** (**f**) Олена.
  - Прийш**ли** (**pl**) Роман і Олена.

Neuter singular form of the verb are used for all genders and numbers after question word **mo**? if the verb is used in Past Tense:

Дзвонив (т) телефон.

е.д. **Що** це було (n)? - Проїхала (f) машина. Упали (pl) окуляри.

# **Negative and Indefinite pronouns**

Negative and Indefinite pronouns originate from Interrogative pronouns.

Interrogative	Negative	Indefinite	Indefinite	Indefinite
Хто?	ніхто	хтось	хто-небудь	дехто
Що?	ніщо	щось	що-небудь	дещо
Який?	ніякий	якийсь	який-небудь	деякий
Чий?	нічий	чийсь	чий-небудь	
Котрий?		деякий		
Скільки?	ніскільки	декілька		

The question word **який?/яка?/яке?/які?** is used in questions about quality of the object and question word **котрий?/котра?/котре?/котрі?** is used in question about definite order in the line of similar objects:

- Дайте, будь-ласка, книгу.

Give me a book, please.

- Яку?

Which one?

- Зелену.

The green one.

- Котру?

Which one?

- Третю зліва.

The third from the left.

# **Negative pronouns**

Pronouns with a particle **Hi** is used for intensification of negation which is expressed by the verb with a particle **He** after pronoun:

e.g. Я нічого **не** читав.

Pronouns with a particle **Hi** indicate that the action will not take place because of the absence of the object:

e.g. Мені нічого читати.

A negative particle **Hi** is always stressed.

# **Indefinite pronouns**

The particle  $-c\mathbf{b}$  is used when it is necessary to say about a really existing but unknown object or quality. Often action exists in Present or Past Tenses:

e.g. Він щось купив. He has bought something.

The particle —**небудь** is used when it is necessary to say about an absolutely indefinite person, object or quality:

e.g. Купи мені **що-небудь** на обід. Buy me something for lunch.

The particle  $-\mathbf{ge}$  is used when it is necessary to say about object that is known to a speaker but is unknown to a listener.

e.g. Я купила тобі дещо. І bought something for you.

# **Demonstrative pronouns**

There are two groups of demonstrative pronouns:  $\underline{\text{this}} \setminus \underline{\text{these}} - \underline{\text{ueŭ}}(m)$ ,  $\underline{\text{ug}}(f)$ ,  $\underline{\text{ue}}(n)$ ,  $\underline{\text{ui}}(pl) - \text{and} \underline{\text{that}} \setminus \underline{\text{those}} - \underline{\text{toŭ}}(m)$ ,  $\underline{\text{ta}}(f)$ ,  $\underline{\text{te}}(n)$ ,  $\underline{\text{ti}}(pl)$ .

Only neuter pronoun of Nom. Case is used in questions and answers for subject:

е.g. Хто це? - Це Джон. Що це? - Це книги.

All genders of these pronouns are used as the definition in answers after questions:

# який? яка? яке? які?

Case	m	f	n	pl
Nom.	цей	ЦЯ	це	ці
Gen.	цього	цієї	ЦРОLО	цих
Acc.	цього (ап.),цей (іпап.)	цю	це	цих (an.), ці (inan.)
Dat.	цьому	цій	цьому	цим
Instr.	цим	цією	ЦИМ	цими
Loc.	на цьому	на цій	на цьому	на цих

The declension of the Demonstrative Pronouns that/ those is the same as this/ these in Ukrainian.

Case	m	f	n	pl
Nom.	той	та	то	ті
Gen.	того	тої	того	ТИХ
Acc.	того (an.),той (inan.)	ту	те	тих (an.), ті (inan.)
Dat.	тому	тій	тому	ТИМ
Instr.	ТИМ	тією	ТИМ	ТИМИ
Loc.	на тому	на тій	на тому	на тих

### **NUMERAL**

There are two groups of numerals: cardinals and ordinals.

<u>Cardinal numerals</u> identify the quantity and answer the question **скільки?** (How many? How much?).

<u>Ordinal numerals</u> identify the succession of the objects in counting and answer the questions:

Котрий? (т)

**Котра?** (f)

**Котре?** (n)

Котрі?(pl)

Ordinal numerals agree with nouns in gender, number and case.

They are also used to denote time:

Years

Тисяча дев'ятсот вісімдесят шостий

1986

Date

Двадцять третє липня

July 23

Hours

Зараз восьма година.

It's eight o'clock now.

**Fractions** 

Одна і дві шостих

One and two sixths

Ordinal numerals are declined like pronouns **той, та, те, ті**. In compound ordinals only the last part will take the form of an ordinal and grammar properties of an adjective: сімсот сорок четвертий.

Numeral	Cardinal	Ordinal	Ordinal	Ordinal	Ordinal
		m	f	n	pl
1	Один (m) Одна (f) Одне (n) Одні (pl)	перший	-a	-e	-i
2	Два (m,n) Дві (f)	другий	-a	-е	-i
3	три	третій	-я	-€	-i
4	чотири	четвертий	-a	-е	-i
5	п'ять	п'ятий	-a	-е	-i
6	шість	шостий	-a	-е	-i
7	сім	сьомий	-a	-е	-i
8	вісім	восьмий	-a	-е	-i
9	дев'ять	дев'ятий	-a	-е	-i
10	десять	десятий	-a	-е	-i
11	одинадцять	одинадцятий	-a	-е	-i
12	дванадцять	дванадцятий	-a	-е	-i
13	тринадцять	тринадцятий	-a	-е	-i
14	чотирнадцять	чотирнадцятий	-a	-е	-i
15	п'ятнадцять	п'ятнадцятий	-a	-е	-i

16	шістнадцять	шістнадцятий	-a	-е	-i
17	сімнадцять	сімнадцятий	-a	-e	-i
18	вісімнадцять	вісімнадцятий	-a	-e	-i
19	дев'ятнадцять	дев'ятнадцятий	-a	-e	-i
20	двадцять	двадцятий	-a	-e	-i
30	тридцять	тридцятий	-a	-e	-i
40	сорок	сороковий	-a	-e	-i
50	п'ятдесят	п'ятдесятий	-a	-e	-i
60	шістдесят	шістдесятий	-a	-e	-i
70	сімдесят	сімдесятий	-a	-e	-i
80	вісімдесят	вісімдесятий	-a	-е	-i
90	дев'яносто	дев'яностий	-a	-е	-i
100	сто	сотий	-a	-e	-i
1000	тисяча	тисячний	-a	-e	-i
1000000	мільйон	мільйонний	-a	-e	-i

For feminine, neuter gender and plural form masculine gender endings for all ordinal numerals are dropped and necessary endings are added.

# **Declension of the Cardinal and Ordinal Numerals**

### **Ordinal Numerals**

The declension of ordinal numerals is the same as the declension of hard stem Adjective. Only the numeral **TpeTiŭ** is declined as a **soft stem** adjective.

### Cardinal Numerals.

### The numerals один (m), одна (f), одне (n), одні (pl).

Nominative case of the noun singular is always used after numeral 1\ один (m), одна (f), одне(n) and Nominative Case of the noun plural after numeral одні.

### The numerals 2/два (дві), 3/три, 4/чотири, 5/п'ять.

Genitive case of the singular noun is always used after numerals 2/два(дві), 3/три, 4/чотири, and genitive case of the noun plural after numeral 5/π3π5 and others.

Genitive case of the noun plural s also used after words (не)багато, мало, (де)кілька, скільки.

Case	m	f	n	pl
Nom.	один	одна	одне	одні
Gen.	одного	однієї/ одної	одного	одних
Dat.	одному	одній	одному	одним
Acc.	inan.=Nom.	одну	одне	inan.= Nom.
	an.=Gen.			an.= Gen.
Instr.	одним	однією/ одною	одним	одними
Loc.	На одному/ на	На одній	На одному/на однім	На одних
	однім			

Case	2	3	4	5	6	7
Nom.	два (m, n) дві (f)	три	чотири	п'ять	шість	сім
Gen.	двох	трьох	чотирьох	п'яти/п'ятьох	шести/шістьох	семи/сімох
Dat.	двом	трьом	чотирьом	п'яти/п'ятьом	шести/шістьом	семи/сімом
Acc.	inan.=Nom.	inan.=Nom.	inan.=Nom.	inan. = Nom.	inan. = Nom.	inan.=Nom.
	an. $=$ Gen.	an. $=$ Gen.	an. $=$ Gen.	an. $=$ Gen.	an. = Gen.	an. = Gen.
Instr.	двома	трьома	чотирма	п'ятьма/	шістьма/	сьома/
				п'ятьома	шістьома	сімома
Loc.	На двох	На трьох	На	На п'яти/	На шести/	На семи/
			чотирьох	п'ятьох	шістьох	сімох

Cardinal numerals from вісім to двадцять, and numerals тридцять, п'ятдесят, шістдесят, сімдесят are declined like numeral п'ять.

Numerals **сорок**, **дев'яносто**, **сто** have the ending –**a** in all the cases except the Nominative and Accusative (i.e. сорок**a**, дев'яност**a**, ст**a**).

Case	200	300	500
Nom.	двісті	триста	п'ятсот
Gen.	двохсот	трьохсот	п'ятисот
Acc.	inan.= двісті	inan. = триста	inan. = п'ятсот
	an.= двохсот	an.= трьохсот	an.= п'ятисот
Instr.	двомастами	трьомастами	п'ятистами
Loc.	На двохстах	На трьохстах	На п'ятистах

The numeral **чотириста** is declined like **триста**.

The numerals  $\mathbf{mictcot}$ ,  $\mathbf{cimcot}$ ,  $\mathbf{bicimcot}$ ,  $\mathbf{дев}$ 'ятсот are declined like  $\mathbf{n}$ 'ятсот.

The numerals тисяча, мільйон are declined like nouns:

Case	1,000	1,000,000
Nom.	тисяча	мільйон
Gen.	тисячі	мільйона
Dat.	тисячі	мільйону
Acc.	тисячу	мільйон
Instr.	тисячею	мільйоном
Loc.	тисячі	мільйоні

# THE VERB

The initial form of the verb is the **Infinitive**. All verbs in Infinitive have ending —**ти** e.g. чита**ти**/to read, писа**ти**/to write. The Infinitive form of the verbs is used:

1. Future tense of Imperfective form.	Я буду читати.
2. Determination of wishes, skills, abilities, advice, orders, requests in combination with verbs: хотіти, могти, вміти, любити, збиратися, радити,просити, etc.	Я хочу малювати. Я вмію малювати. Я (не) можу малювати. Я збираюся малювати. Я раджу вам малювати. Я прошу вас малювати.
3. Determination of beginning, continuation, ending, of action: почати, продовжувати, закінчити.	Я почав працювати. Я продовжував працювати. Я закінчив працювати.
4. Determination of the goal with the verbs of movement.	Я йду обідати. Я пішов спати. Я їду працювати.
5. Detrmination of necessity, possibility, impossibility, prohibition of action with the words треба, потрібно, можна, не можна.	Мені треба від почивати. Вам потрібно працювати. Де можна це купити? Мені не можна курити.
6. Determination of human state with the adverbs приємно, корисно.	Мені треба гуляти. Вам корисно бігати.
7. Determination of readiness, responsibilities with the words повинен, готовий, радий.	Я повинен йти. Я готовий допомагати. Я радий вас бачити.

Infinitives are given in dictionaries.

Ukrainian verbs exist in three basic tenses: Past, Present and Future.

All forms of the verbs are formed by means of changing endings of the Infinitive.

# **Present Tense**

The Ukrainian **Past Tense** corresponds to the English **Present Continuous** and **Present Indefinite Tenses:** 

e.g. Він читає. – He is reading./He reads.

In the **Present Tense** all Ukrainian verbs are inflected for persons, which means that there are different personal endings added to the stem of the verb.

According to the vowel of the personal endings all the verbs are divided into two groups or **Conjugations**.

Most verbs which infinitives end in -ати, -яти, -вати belong to Conjugation I.

The infinitives that end in -ити, -iти belong to Conjugation II.

*To conjugate a verb, follow the pattern:* 

- find the infinitive
  - take off the ending
    - define the conjugation
      - add the personal ending

Pronoun	Conjugation I		Conjug	ation II
	читати	писати	учити	любити
Я	читаю	пишу	учу	люблю
ТИ	читаєш	пишеш	учиш	любиш
він/вона	чита€	пише	учить	любить
МИ	читаємо	пишемо	учимо	любимо
ви	читаєте	пишете	учите	любите
вони	читають	пишуть	учать	люблять

Personal	Conjugation I		Conjuş	gation II
Pronoun		Endings a	fter:	
	Stem in vowel	Stem in	Stem in vowel	Stem in
		consonant		consonant
Я	-Ю	-y	-Ю	-y
ТИ	-€Ш	-еш	-їш	-иш
Він/вона	-€	-e	-їть	-ить
МИ	-€МО	-емо	-їмо	-имо
ВИ	-€те	-ете	-їте	-ите
вони	-ЮТЬ	-уть	-ЯТВ-	-ЯТВ-

In **Conjugation I** most of the verbs with suffixes **–ва-, -ува-, -юва-** in the infinitive lose **–ва-** in personal forms: давати – да**-ва-**ти – я даю.

In **Conjugation II** verbs vowel in front of the ending should be taken off: уч**и**ти- уч-и-ти- я уч**у**.

# **Verbs of Mixed Conjugation**

While conjugating the verb, you can encounter the grammatical phenomenon, called **consonant interchange**. The following consonants interchange in all forms of the Present and the simple Future tenses for Conjugation I verbs:

Interchange of	Infinitival form	Personal forms
consonants		
ж-1	могти (to be able)	можеш, можу, може
3-Ж	казати (to say)	кажу, кажеш, каже
с-ш	пи <b>с</b> ати (to write)	пи <b>ш</b> у, пишеш, пише
к-ч	пе <b>к</b> ти (to bake)	печу, печеш, пече
т-ч	хотіти (to want)	хо <b>ч</b> у, хочеш, хоче

In <b>Conjugation II</b> verbs consonants interchange only in the firs	person singular:
--	------------------

Interchange of consonants	Infinitival form	1 <sup>st</sup> person singular form	Other personal forms
Д-дж	ходити	ходжу	ходиш
Т-ч	платити	плачу	платить
3-ж	возити	вожу	водить
С-ш	просити	прошу	просить
Зд-ждж	їздити	їжджу	їздить
Ст-щ	простити	прощу	простить

In Conjugation II verbs with the stem ending into  $\mathbf{6}$ ,  $\mathbf{n}$ ,  $\mathbf{g}$ ,  $\mathbf{m}$  have consonant interchange in the 1<sup>st</sup> person singular and in the 3<sup>rd</sup> person plural in the present and simple future tenses.

Labial consonant	Infinitival form	1 <sup>st</sup> person singular	3 <sup>rd</sup> person singular
Б- бл	любити	люблю	люблять
В- вл	дивитися	дивлюся	дивляться
П- пл	спати	сплю	сплять
М- мл	знайомитися	знайомлюся	знайомляться

### Reflexive verbs

There is the group of verbs with postfix  $-c\pi$  which are called reflexive. The origin meaning of this postfix is "myself" (ce6). In some verbs this meaning is still kept and such verbs can be used either with the postfix or without it:

одягати дитину – одягатися мити посуд – митися бити посуд – битися з ворогом зустрічати гостей – зустрічатися з другом

це мене хвилю $\epsilon$  – я хвилююся показати фото – показатися у школі бачити друга – бачитися з другом він зламав стола – стіл зламався

Some reflexive verbs are also used in adverbial role with personal pronouns in Dative case:

Мені (не) спиться - I (don't) want to sleep

йому (не) працюється - he (doesn't) feel like working

їм (не) хочеться писати - they (don't) want to write

But in most reflexive verbs this meaning is absent now and they exist only with the postfix: Дивитися (to watch), намагатися (to try), дістатися (to get to), сміятися (to laugh), боятися (to be afraid of), зізнатися (to confess), молитися (to pray).

The postfix follows the personal ending (я вмива-ю-ся). But pay attention to the fact that the third person singular verb forms of the first conjugation acquire −ть before the postfix −ся: він вмивається.

# The auxiliary verb бути / to be

### Present tense:

In modern Ukrainian the link verb to be is not used in Present Tense:

# Я – студент. Він – лікар.

Very often the present form of the verb to be  $/\epsilon$  is used to denote possession equal to English to have. This form is used only for affirmative construction and is never used for negative.

e.g. - У тебе  $\epsilon$  брат?

- Так, у мене  $\epsilon$  брат.
- Ні, у мене немає брата.

This form serves the needs of all subjects – first, second, third person singular a well as plural. The Past and Future Tenses are formed according to the general rule.

### **Verbs in Past Tense**

The Ukrainian **Past Tense** corresponds to the English Past Indefinite and Past Continuous. The Past Tense is formed from the infinitive by taking off the infinitival ending —**Tu** and adding the appropriate ending:

# To form Past Tense, follow this pattern:

- find the infinitive
  - take off the ending
    - add the necessary ending for masculine, feminine gender and for Plural Form

m	-В
f	-ла
n	-ло
pl	-ли

Pronoun	Singular	Pronoun	Plural
Я	чита- $\mathbf{B}$ (m) чита- $\mathbf{лa}$ (f)	МИ	чита-ли
ТИ	чита <b>-в</b> $(m)$ чита-л $a(f)$	ви	чита-ли
він	чита-в	вони	чита-ли
вона	чита-ла		

### Memorize:

Gender or number	їсти	сісти	йти
Masculine	ΪΒ	сів	йшов
Feminine	їла	сіла	йшла
Plural	їли	сіли	йшли

### **Future tense**

In Ukrainian the Future tense corresponds to English Future Indefinite and Future Continuous. There are two ways of forming the Future Tense in Ukrainian: the Analytical form and the Synthetic form. *The Analytical form* is used for Imperfective aspect, and is formed by the means of combining the auxiliary verb бути in Future Tense and the infinitive of the main verb. Don't forget to conjugate the verb бути.

Pronoun	Verb to be	infinitive
	to be	
R	буду	читати
Ти	будеш	читати
Він \ вона	буде	читати
Ми	будемо	читати
Ви	будете	читати
Вони	будуть	читати

There are also two types of the *Synthetic forms*. First one is used <u>for Imperfective aspect</u> and is formed by adding personal endings to the infinitive.

Pronoun	Future form of the verb
R	робитиму
ТИ	робитимеш
він ∖вона	робитиме
МИ	робитимемо
ВИ	робитимете
вони	робитимуть

Another type of *Synthetic form* is used <u>for Perfective aspect</u> and is formed by adding personal endings, which correspond to personal ending of Imperfective verbs Present Tense.

Pronoun	The Future Form of the verb
Я	зроблю
ТИ	зробиш
він \ вона	<b>зробить</b>
МИ	зробимо
ВИ	зробите
вони	зробл <b>ять</b>

# **Aspects of verbs**

In Ukrainian there are two categories of aspects: Perfective and Imperfective.

The Imperfective Aspect denotes	The Perfective Aspect denotes
<ol> <li>The fact that the action is taking place.</li> <li>e.g. Брат слухає музику.</li> </ol>	Completed action, which has been taken place on a single occasion, often having a result. e.g. Нарешті я написав листа.
<ol> <li>Prolonged action is viewed as a process, with words and word combinations довго(for a long time), дві години (two hours), весь день (all day long), цілий ранок (all morning), цілий тиждень (whole week). Shows that the action is ongoing.</li> <li>е.д. Він готував обід три години.</li> </ol>	The action took place once. e.g. Він народився у січні.
3. Repeated action, with the words and word combinations завжди (always), щодня (every day), ніколи (never), часто (often), рідко (seldom), інколи (sometimes), постійно (constantly), регулярно (regularly).  е.д. Він завжди читав улюблену газету.	With the negation неin the meaning of the failure to do something. e.g.Вона не прочитала книгу.

The meaning of an aspect is achieved by using perfective or imperfective verbs. Perfective – Imperfective verb pairs have the same root but different prefixes or suffixes that may either influence their lexical meaning adding some shades of additional meaning (дивитися – передивитися) or just say that the action has been completely fulfilled (читати – прочитати).

# Here are some meanings of such prefixes:

Prefix	Meaning	Example
У-/в-	into	Вписати (to write into)
Ви-	completion of an action usually with the	виписати (to write out), вибрати (to
	meaning out	choose), вимити
Від-	Action backwards	Відплатити
До-	Reach,finish / do more than required	Дописати / докупити
3-/c-	Remove an object / complete an action	Змити / зварити
3a-	Attain a result / cover an object	Заплакати / закрити
На-	Motion onto / completed action	Наклеїти / написати
Недо-	Not to complete an action	Недоїсти, недочитати
Об-	Thorough action	Обдумати, обговорити
Пере-	To repeat the action, remake smth./ to overdo	Передумати (to change one's mind),
	smth.	переписати (to copy), передати (to
		pass) / переїсти (to eat too much)
Під-	Extra action / motion under	Підлити / підписати (to sign a paper)
По-	To do some insignificant part of the action	Попити, попрацювати
При-	Join things together / completing the action	Пришити / приготувати
Роз-	Divide into parts	розрізати
Спів-	Co-	Співпрацювати, співіснувати

Also see **Verbs of motion** page to find additional meaning of prefixes connected to verbs of motion.

Perfectives are also formed by the means of suffixation:

Відпочивати — відпочити
Відправляти — відправити
Починати — почати
Сідати — сісти
Отримувати — отримати

Зустрічатися – зустрітися

There are some exceptions from these two ways of Perfectives' formation:

брати	узяти	To take
займатися	зайнятися	To occupied with
знаходити	знайти	To find

Perfective verbs have no Present Tense.the Future Tense of Perfectives is formed in the same way as the present Tense of Imperfective Verbs, using the same personal endingsas for the Present Tense of corresponding Imperfective Verbs.

# **Declension of Perfectives**

Infinitive of a Perfective	Past Tense		Futu	<b>Future Tense</b>		
	Pronoun	The verb	Pronoun	The verb		
	він	прочита <b>в</b>	Я	прочита <b>ю</b>		
			ТИ	прочитаєш		
прочитати	вона	прочитала	МИ	прочитаємо		
			ВИ	прочитаєте		
	воно	прочитало	Він / вона /воно	прочита€		
	вони	прочитали	вони	прочитають		

# **Imperative Mood**

The Imperative Mood is used to express a wish, command or request. It is formed from the stem of Present Tense Imperfective Aspect or from the stem of Future Tense Perfective form. For plural form it is necessary to add ending —Te / -iTb.

Infinitive	Present imperfective	Stem ends in	A letter Example that is		ample
	Future perfective		necessary to add	sg	pl
Читати	Чита-ю	A vowel	-й	читай	читайте
Писати	Пиш-у	A consonant and the stem is not stressed	-и	пиши	пишіть
встати	Встан-у	A consonant and the stem is stressed	-Ъ	встань	встаньте
витерти	Витр-у	2 consonants and the stem is stressed	-И	витри	витріть

It is also possible to form imperative using word Давай(те).

# e.g. Давай писати листи!

# Давайте працювати!

In this case a person asks someone to do something together.

### **Memorize:**

Infinitive	sg	pl
їсти	ïж	їжте
пити	пий	пийте
давати	давай	давайте
вставати	вставай	вставайте

Note: don't forget to add —ся/-сь for reflexive verb after ending: e.g. учись, учися.

# **Verbs of Motion**

The verbs of motion can be divided into two groups: one movement direction and different direction.

іти/їхати	ходити/їздити
1. These verbs denote movement in a specific	1. These verbs denote movement without
direction at a specific time: Я іду в школу.	definite direction, or in different directions:
	Він ходить по кімнаті.
2. Questions about movement: Куди ви	2. Movement, that is repeated or habitual:
їдете?	Я їжджу в басейн дуже часто.
3. Commands and requests: Ідіть сюди!	3. Movement to and back again:
	Учора я ходив у театр.

The verbs **itu- ходити, ïхати- ïздити** refer to movement but the former refer to movement under one's own power, usually walking, and the latter refer to movement by some means of transport.

Memorize adverbs, which are often used with the verbs ходити- їздити.

щодня	every day
часто	often
рідко	seldom
іноді	sometimes
завжди	always
звичайно	usually
ніколи	never

# The Conjugation of the Verbs of Motion

Іти- ходити, їхати- їздити

	іти	ходити	їхати	їздити
Я	іду	ходжу	їду	їжджу
ТИ	ідеш	ходиш	їдеш	їздиш
він/вона	іде	ходить	їде	їздить
МИ	ідемо	ходимо	їдемо	їздимо
ви	ідете	ходите	їдете	їздите
вони	ідуть	ходять	їдуть	їздять

The Past and Future Tenses pf the verbs of motion are formed according to the general rule. Memorize the Past Form of the verb itu.

m	йшов
f	йшла
pl	йшли

Note: In the Past Tense verbs **ходити- їздити** denote movement and back. In this case the meaning of the verbs **ходив- їздив** are equivalent to the verb **був**: e.g. Вчора я **ходив/їздив** у кіно = Вчора я був у кіно.

# General meaning of prefixes of the Verbs of Motion

Prefix	Meaning	Example
3a-	The movement inside	Він зайшов у кімнату.
ви-	The movement from inside	Він вийшов із кімнати.
при-	Arrival and approaching	Я приїхав з Києва.
по-	The act of leaving/ departure	Він вже поїхав.
під-	Approaching. Antonym to prefix -від	Ми під'їжджаємо до Києва.
від-	The movement away from	Він відійшов від вікна.
до-	The movement to a definite place	Як доїхати до центру?
<b>3a-</b>	Going to the same place	Я зайшов у магазин по дорозі
		додому.
3 <b>i-</b>	The movement from the surface down	Я зіскочив зі східців.
про-	The movement past/ by the object	Ми пройшли біля театру.
пере-	The movement from one side to another	Діти перейшли дорогу.
обі-	The movement around the object	Ми обійшли навколо будинку.
п-	Beginning of the action. Intention to go	Я пішов у театр. Завтра я піду у
	somewhere in the future. Momentary action.	театр.

Verbs of motion one direction movement with prefixes are Perfective aspects verbs.

# **MODALS**

Modal words express modality, i.e. possibility, necessity, disability, etc. The verb могти / to be able to, can is in Present Tense as following:

Pronoun	Past	Present	Future
Я		можу	зможу
ТИ		можеш	зможеш
він	(з)міг	може	зможе
вона	(з)могла	може	зможе
МИ	(з)могли	можемо	зможемо
ВИ		можете	зможете
вони		можуть	зможуть

Only the Perfective aspect form of the verb **3MOFTH** is used in Future Tense. It's necessary to add notional verb in Infinitive form after.

e.g. Він може спати.

Gender	Nom.	Modal word	Verb
m	він	повинен	
f	вона	повинна	Infinitive
n	воно	повинно	
pl	вони	повинні	

For Past and Future Tenses it is necessary to add the auxiliary verb бути in appropriate form after the modal word:

e.g. Він повинен буде знати.

Вона повинна буде працювати.

The words можна (may), не можна (to be not allowed), треба, потрібно, необхідно (is necessary to), слід (should). The subject is used in the form of the Dative case for these constructions and the infinitive form of a verb or sometimes a nounthe in Accusative case.

<b>Pronoun Dat.</b>	Modal words	Noun	Verb
мені			
тобі	(не) можна		
йому	треба	Acc.	Infinitive
їй	потрібно		
нам			
вам	необхідно		
ïM	слід		

e.g. Мені **не можна** пити каву.

Тобі слід відпочивати.

**Їй треба** воду.

Мені необхідно говорити з вами.

For Past and Future Tenses it is necessary to add auxiliary verb **бути** after a modal in appropriate form.

e.g. Нам **треба було** поспішати.

Мамі слід було відпочивати.

Вам необхідно буде прийти о восьмій.

In colloquial Ukrainian the verb мати can be also used in modal meaning- to have to do smth. e.g. Я маю зробити це сьогодні. *I have to do it today*.

# **ADVERB**

Adverb is unchangeable part of speech. It has agreement with a verb. It answers the questions:

Where?	Where to?	Where from?	How many/How much?	How?	When?
Де?	Куди?	Звідки?	Скільки?	Як?	Коли?
удома,	додому,	згори, униз	багато, мало,	швидко,	незабаром,
унизу	направо		кілька	повільно	учора

# Types of the Adverbs:

### The adverbs of **time**

коли?	when?
щодня	every day
часто	often
рідко	seldom
іноді/інколи	sometimes
завжди	always
ніколи	never
постійно	constantly
регулярно	regularly
скоро/незабаром	soon
удень/увечері/ уранці/уночі	in definite part of day

вчасно	on time
сьогодні/вчора/ завтра	today/yesterday/ tomorrow

# The adverbs of **manner**

як?	how?
добре	well
Погано	bad
Швидко	quickly
весело	joyfully
сумно	sad
цікаво	interesting
смачно	tasty
дорого	expensive
дешево	cheap
зручно	comfortable

# The adverbs of **place**

де?	where?
тут	here
там	there
спереду	in front
сзаду	from the back
позаду	behind
зліва	to the left
справа	to the right
унизу	below
угорі	above
удома	at home
назад	Backwards
наліво	to the left
направо	to the right

# The adverbs of **direction**

куди?	where to?
сюди	this way
туди	that way
уперед	forward
назад	backwards
наліво	to the left
направо	to the right
вгору	up
униз	down
додому	home

Many adverbs are formed by adding to the stem of the adjective of the suffix -o/-e.

e. g. добрий- добре

поганий- погано темний- темно

зручний- зручно

приємний- приємно гарний- гарно

Adverbs of manner have <u>degrees of comparison</u> when the actions denoted by a verb need to be compared. The are formed by use of the same suffixes and prefixes as the adjectives' degrees of comparison, but take the ending **-e.** 

adverb	comparative	superlative
темно	темн-іш-е	най-темн-іш-е
швидко	швид-ш-е	най-швид-ш-е
добре	кращ-е	най-кращ-е

е.д. Цей спортсмен бігає найшвидше.

Тут чистіше, ніж там.

Мені зручніше прийти о шостій.

У кафе готують найсмачніше.

# **CONJUNCTION**

# The Conjunction i / Ta (and)

This conjunction is used for connecting two or more words in the sentence. e.g. Нік і Лінда- добрі друзі.

# The Conjunction a, але / та (but)

The conjunction **але** is used to express antithesis.

e.g. У мене  $\epsilon$  сестра, **але** нема $\epsilon$  брата.

The conjunction **a** is used to express opposition.

е.д. Він говорить українською мовою, а я - російською.

In colloquial Ukrainian **a** is used to show the contrast between words or sentences.

e.g. Тут сік, **а** там вино.

Мама читає, **a** тато дивиться телевізор.

The same construction is used as a copulative.

e.g. - У вас  $\epsilon$  брат?

- Так. А у вас?

# The Conjunction чи, або (ог)

The conjunctions are used to express the alternative and are synonyms.

e.g. Ви любите чай чи каву?

Увечері я люблю грати у шахи або дивитися телевізор.

### The Conjunction ніж (than)

The conjunction is used to link the objects of comparison.

e.g. Київ більший, **ніж** Черкаси.

# The Conjunction як, наче, немов (as)

The conjunction is used for comparing things.

е.д. Швидкий, як літак. Він співає, немов Карузо. Це було, наче сон.

# The Conjunction тому що, бо (because)

The conjunction is used in the complex sentences to denote the reason. e.g. Я не їм м'яса, тому що я вегетаріанець.

# The Conjunction **Tomy (that's why)**

The conjunction is used in the complex sentences to denote the result of an action. e.g. Я забув ключ удома, тому я телефоную мамі.

# The Conjunction **mob** (so that)

The conjunction is used in the complex sentences to denote the purpose of the action which is described in the main pert of the of the sentence. In English such sentence will be a simple sentence with the infinitive (or have the construction *in order to*).

е.д. Я вчу українську мову, щоб спілкуватися з людьми.

It is also used to speak about the action which is desired to be fulfilled.

e.g. Я хочу, **щоб** ти сказав правду.

# The Conjunction що (that)

The conjunction is used to explain the meaning of the first pert of the complex sentence. e.g. Я знаю, **що** він отримав листа з Америки.

# The Conjunction чи (if, whether)

The conjunction is used in complex sentences as reported speech.

e.g. Я не знаю, чи він прийшов. Вона питала, чи знаю я її сина.

# The Conjunction чи...чи.../ або...або...(either...or)

The conjunction is used for contrasting two objects.

e.g. Він прийде або сьогодні, або ніколи.

There is olso a number of conjunctions formed from the interrogative pronouns: що, хто, де, коли, як, чому, звідки, еtc.

e.g. Я не знаю, хто тут живе.

Ми питали, чому мама не готувала обід.

Він думав, як краще зробити завдання.

# **PREPOSITION**

### **Case Government**

Prepositions determine the cases of nouns. Some prepositions are followed by more than one case, depending on their use in the sentence. For example, **y/B**, **Ha** are used with the Accusative Case when direction is involved, and with the Locative Case to indicate the location of the object.

Here are the most common prepositions and the cases they take:

Case	Ukrainian	English	Example

	preposition	preposition	
Gen.	без	without	Я люблю чай без цукру.
	крім	besides	Там були усі, крім Олени.
	для	for	Подарунок для сестри
	до	to (destination or	До пошти дві зупинки.
		sombody's place)	Я ходив до лікаря.
	від	from (a person or a	Лист від батьків.
		place)	Від пошти до театру дві зупинки.
	3	from (a place)	Я приїхала з Америки.
	біля, коло	near	Диван <b>біля</b> шафи.
	(не)далеко від	far from	Ми живемо недалеко від школи.
	справа (зліва) від	to the right (left) from	Банк зліва від музею.
	навпроти	opposite to	Стадіон навпроти парку.
	посеред	in the middle of	Стіл стоїть посеред кімнати.
	після		Після вечері ми поїдемо у кіно.
	3до	from till	Ми працюємо з ранку до вечора.
Acc.	у (в)/на	to (direction)	Я їду у Київ на базар.
	через	across, through	Банк знаходиться через дорогу.
	через	in (in a week)	Урок буде через тиждень.
	про	about	Ми говорили про Америку.
Instr.	3	with	Я люблю чай з молоком.
			Я говорив з другом.
	над	above	Над містом хмари.
	перед	in front of	Школа перед магазином.
		before	Я прийду перед концертом.
	3a	behind	Банк знаходиться за будинком.
	між	between	Диван стоїть між кріслами.
	під	under	Килим під ліжком.
Loc.	у (в), на	in, at	Я працюю у школі, а мій брат на
			фабриці.
	на	on	Чашка на столі.
	о (об)	at (at 5 o'clock)	Ми приїдемо о сьомій годині.

# The Participle

Грант, написаний Скоттом, був дуже потрібен школі. A grant, written by Scott, was really necessary for school.

To express a certain quality or property of an object, adjectives are used:

e.g.: Цікава (робота) – an intreresting work Ефективний (план) – an effective plan

To express some temporary quality, some property of an object linked with a certain action, we use participles:

e.g.: Прочитана книга (a book that is read). Сказане слово (a word that was said).

The Participle is a word form, which has features of both the verb and the adjective. That's why it is also known as verbal adjective. Like verbs, participles have tense and aspect. Like adjectives, participles have three gender forms in the singular and a plural form, they are declined in six cases and are always used with nouns.

# The Present Active Participle

Любляча донька. A loving daughter. Люблячий син. A loving son.

Active participles characterize the object from the point of view of the action it performs.

Infinitive	Present Tense 3d pers. plural	Present Active Participle	Suffix	English
любити	любля-ть	любл-яч-ий	- яч -	Who is loving
читати	читаю-ть	чита-юч-ий	- юч -	Who is reading

The active participles are seldom used in speech in Ukrainian. An attributive subordinate sentence is commonly used instead of them:

e.g.: <u>Люблячі</u> діти (loving children) – Present Active Participle (Діти, <u>які люблять</u> (children, who love) – Attributive clause

The Active Past Participles are formed by a small number of verbs; they are hardly ever used in Ukrainian.

Present passive participles are not used in Ukrainian. The past participle passive is very often used.

# The Past Passive Participle

План був написаний вчасно. *The plan was written in time.* 

Formation of the Past Passive Participle.

Infinitive	Past Passive participle	Suffix	English
читати	чита-н-ий	- H -	which is read
принести	принес-ен-ий	- ен -	which is brought
підігріти	Підігрі-т-ий	- T -	which is warmed

Verbs with the reflexive particle  $-c\pi$  (-cb) do not form any particles.

# The Past Passive Participle Ending in -но, -mo

In impersonal sentences the form of Past Passive participle ending in -no in -mo is used as the predicative with link-verb  $\underline{6ytu}$  (to be); this form is not declined. In the present tense the link verb is not used. The noun in such a phrase is in the Acc. Case.

e.g.: план виконано (Present) the plan is done план було виконано (Past) the plan was done план буде виконано (Future) the plan will be done

# The Verbal Adverb

<u>Читаючи</u> книгу, Аня думала про її героїв. Reading a book Anna thought about it's characters.

Прочитавши книгу, Аня віддала її до бібліотеки. Having read the book, Anna returned it back to the library.

The Verbal Adverb *читаючи* (reading), *прочитавши* (having read) is a verbal form that has features of both the verb and the adverb.

# Verbal Features of the Verbal Adverb

Like verbs, Verbal Adverbs:

- 1. Retain the aspect of the verb from which it is formed. Compare:
  - e.g.: читати (to read) читаючи (reading) (Imperf.), прочитати (to have read) прочитавши (having read) (Perf.), робити (to do) роблячи (doing) (Imperf.), зробити (to have done) зробивши (having done) (Perf.).
- 2. Require the same case as the verb from which it is formed:
  - e.g.: цікавитись музикою (Instr.) (to be interested in music) цікавлячись музикою (Instr.) (being interested in music)
- 3. May have the practice -ся (-сь):
  - e.g.: купатися (to bathe) купаючись (bathing) займатися (to study) займаючись (studying)

# Adverbial Features of the Verbal Adverbs

Like the adverb, the verbal adverb does not change for gender, case or number and is used in sentences as an adverbial modifier, i.e. it shows the circumstances in which the action takes place.

The verbal adverb answers the questions як? (how?), коли? (when?), чому? (why?),за якої умови? (on what condition?)

Читаючи статтю, він робив нотатки.	Reading an article, he made some notes.
Коли він робив нотатки? Читаючи.	When did he make notes? – While reading.
Посміхаючись, Мері дивилася на	Mary looked at the picture, smiling.
фотографію.	
Як вона дивилася? – Посміхаючись.	How did she look at the picture? – Smiling.

### When is the Verbal Adverb used?

To express the uncompleted action, which takes place at the same time with the main action in the sentence, the **Imperfective Verbal Adverb** is used.

Готуючи семінар, він багато працював.

Preparing a seminar, he worked a lot.

Знайомлячись з колегами, вона трохи хвилювалась.

Getting acquainted with her colleagues, she was a little bit nervous.

To express the action, which **precedes** the main action in the sentence the **Perfective Verbal Adverb** is used.

e.g.: Підготувавши семінар, він успішно провів його.

Having prepared a seminar, he conducted it successfully.

Познайомившись з колегами, вона більше не хвилювалася.

Having met her colleaques, she wasn't nervous any longer.

# Formation of the Imperfective Verbal Adverb

Infinitive	The Present Tense the 3d pers. pl. Imperfective Aspect	Imperfective Verbal Adverb	Suffix	English
писати	пиш-уть	пиш-учи	- учи	writing
лежати	леж-ать	леж-ачи	- ачи	lying

# Formation of the Perfective Verbal Adverb

Infinitive Perfective Aspect	The Perfective Verbal Adverb	Suffix	English
прочитати поговорити позайматися	прочита-вши поговори-вши позайма-вши-сь	- вши - вши -	having read having talked having studied

### Note!

Imperfective Verbal Adverbs denote a simultaneous action, while the perfective ones denote an action that took place before that of the predicate verb.

# The Verbal Adverb Construction

A verbal adverb may have its own objects and adverbial modifier:

e.g.: <u>Закінчивши роботу</u>, він поїхав.

Having finished his work, he left. Сидячи коло столу, ми говорили. We talked, sitting around the table.

The verbal adverb  $3a\kappa$ iнчивши has an object poбomy. The verb adverb  $cu\partial nu$  has an adverbial modifier  $\kappa ono\ cmony$ . A verbal adverb with its objects and adverbial modifier is called a verbal adverb construction. It is set off from the rest of the sentence by commas.

### The Verbal Adverb Construction and Subordinate Clauses

Verbal adverb constructions used in the sentences as adverbial modifier of time, cause, condition, may correspond to adverbial clauses of time, cause, condition. They are interchangeable, but only in the case if the subjects of the principle and subordinate clauses denote the same person or object.

e.g.: Коли Віктор подзвонив, він пішов додому.

When Victor made a call, he went home.

Подзвонивши, Віктор пішов додому.

Having made a call, Victor went home.

When the subjects of the principal and subordinate clauses denote different persons, a replacement is impossible.

e.g.: Коли семінар закінчився, Віктор пішов додому.

When the seminar was over, Victor went home.

### **CONDITIONAL**

Conditional constructions may be termed either real or unreal. Real conditions involve **if - then** prepositions and refer to the future. Both parts of such sentences are used in Future tense.

Якщо піде дощ, ми не поїдемо у Київ.

Якщо він прийде, ми будемо вечеряти.

If it rains we'll not go to Kyiv.

If he comes we'll have dinner.

Unreal conditions will involve the conditional mood which is hypothetical or expresses a desire or a wish which may be not fulfilled. To express unreal conditions which refers to past or present such constructions are used:

Past tense + би (б)

# Я хотів би читати книгу.

I'd like to read a book.

# Я грав би у футбол, але погода погана.

I'd play football but the weather is bad. Якби +  $Past\ tense$ , би (б) +  $Past\ tense$ 

### Якби я знала, (то) я б не пішла туди.

If I knew, I would not go there.

### Якби ти працював більше, (то) ти б краще знав українську мову.

I you worked more you would know Ukrainian better.

To express the desire that is possible to fulfill by another person or object preposition **щоб**/ **аби** is used.

# e.g. Я хочу, щоб він читав цю книгу.

I want him to read this book.

### Учитель хоче, аби діти добре вчилися.

The teacher wants the children to study well.

### **INTERJECTIONS**

Interjections are used to express feelings or emotions and are not a changeable part of speech. Here is a list of some Interjections:

Interjection	Meaning	
0!	Oh (pleasure or consternation)	
Ox!	Oh! Ah! (groaning)	
Ax!	Ah (delight, enthusiasm)	
Ой!	Surprise, delight, impatience, etc.	
Ex!	Critical / negative statement	
Фу!	Bad smell	
Гей!	Hey!	
Господи / О Боже!	Heavens! Oh my God!	
Жах!	Horrors!	
Ypa!	Hurrah!	

Чорт!	Hell!
Геть!	Away!
Стоп!	Stop!
Годі!	Enough! Stop it!
Браво!	Bravo!
Клас!	Great!
Супер!	Super!
Добрий день!/ вечір,	Greetings
ранок	
Добраніч!	Good night!
Будь-ласка	Request or Here you are
Прошу	Here you are! Or I beg your pardon? (Repeat, please)

# **VERB TABLE**

Infinitive	Imperfective	Perfective	Case
to add	додава́ти (I)	дода́ти (I)	Acc.
to address	зверта́тися (I)	зверну́тися (I)	Acc.,Gen.,Instr.
to adore	обо́жнювати (I)	обо́жнити (II)	Acc.
to advise	ра́дити (II)	пора́дити (II)	Acc., Dat.
to allow, to permit	дозволя́ти (I)	дозво́лити (II)	Acc., Dat.
to answer	ві дпові да́ти (I)	ві дпові сти́ (II)	Acc., Dat.
to appoint	признача́ти (I)	призна́чити (II)	Acc., Instr., Dat.
to appreciate	ці ни́ти (II)	оці ни́ти (II)	Acc.
to arrange	органі зо́вувати (I)	органі зува́ти (I)	Acc.
to arrive	прибува́ти (I)	прибу́ти (I)	Acc.,Gen.,Instr.
to ask	запи́тувати (I)	запита́ти (I)	Acc.
to bake	пекти́ (I)	спекти́ (I)	Acc.
to bargain	торгува́тися (I)	сторгува́тися (I)	Instr.
to bathe	купа́тися (I)	скупа́тися (I)	Loc.
to be	бу́ти (I)	побу́ти (I)	Loc., Instr.
to be able	могти́ (I)	змогти́ (I)	
to be born	наро́джуватися (I)	народи́тися (II)	Loc., Instr.
to be engaged in,	займа́тися (I)	зайня́тися (I)	Instr., Loc.
to deal with			
to be ill, to fall ill	хворі́ ти (І)	захворі ти (I)	Instr., Acc.
to be in a hurry	поспі ша́ти (II)	поспі ши́ти (II)	Acc.
to be in the dream	сни́тися (II)	насни́тися (II)	Dat.
to be late	запі знюватися (I)	запі зни́тися (II)	Acc.
to be located	знахо́дитися (II)		Loc.
to be named, to be	назива́ти (I)	назва́ти (I)	Acc.
called	назива́тися (I)	назва́тися (I)	Nom.
to be/get agitated	хвилюва́тися (I)	розхвилюва́тися (I)	Acc.
to be/get nervous	нервува́тися (I)	занервува́тися (I)	Acc.
to be/get proud	пиша́тися (I)	запиша́тися (I)	Instr.
to be/get sad	сумува́ти (I)	засумува́ти (I)	Instr.
to be/get scared	боя́тися (II)	зляка́тися (I)	Gen.
to begin	почина́ти (I)	поча́ти (I)	Acc.
	почина́тися (I)	поча́тися (I)	Gen.
to believe	ві рити (II)	пові рити (II)	Acc., Dat.

to boil	кип'яти́ти (II)	закип'яти́ти (II)	Acc.
to break	лама́ть (I)	злама́ти (I)	Acc.
		полама́ти (I)	
	лама́тися (I)	злама́тися (Í)	Loc.
	, ,	поламатися (І)	
to break into	розбива́ти (I)	розби́ти (I)	Acc., Instr.
pieces	розбива́тися (I)	розбитися (I)	
to breathe	ди́хати (II)	поди́хати (I)	Instr.
to bring	прино́сити (II)	прине́сти (I)	Acc., Gen., Dat.
to brush	чистити (II)	почи́стити (II)	Acc., Dat., Instr.
to burn	горі́ ти (II)	згорі́ ти (II)	
to burn out	перегоря́ти (I)	перегорі́ ти (II)	
to buy	купува́ти (I)	купи́ти (II)	Acc., Dat.
to call	дзвони́ти (II)	подзвони́ти (II)	Dat., Acc., Gen.
	кли́кати (I)	покли́кати (I)	Acc.
to call up	виклика́ти (I)	ви́клика́ти (I)	Acc., Gen.
to catch	лови́ти (II)	спі йма́ти (I)	Acc., Loc.
to catch a cold	засту́джуватися (I)	застуди́тися (II)	
to change	мі ня́ти (I)	помі ня́ти (I)	Acc.
to change clothes	переодяга́тися (I)	переодягти́ся (I)	Loc., Acc.
to change for	розмі нювати (I)	розмі ня́ти (I)	Acc., Loc.
to change shoes	перевзува́тися (I)	перевзу́тися (I)	Loc., Acc.
to check	переві ря́ти (I)	переві рити (II)	Acc.
to choose	вибира́ти (I)	ви́брати (I)	Acc.
to close, to lock	зачиня́ти (I)	зачини́ти (II)	Acc.
to collect	колекці онува́ти (I)		Acc.
to comb one's hair	розчі суватися (I)	розчі са́тися (I)	Instr.
to come	прихо́дити (II)	прийти́ (I)	Acc.,Gen.,Instr.
	приї жджа́ти (I)	приї хати (I)	Acc.,Gen.,Instr.
to come back	поверта́тися (I)	поверну́тися (I)	Acc.,Gen.,Instr.
to come true	зді йснюватися (I)	зді йсни́тися (II)	
to compare	порі внювати (I)	порі вня́ти (I)	Acc., Instr.
to complain	ска́ржитися (II)	поска́ржитися (II)	Acc., Dat.
to compose	склада́ти (I)	скла́сти (I)	Acc.
to congratulate	ві та́ти (I)	приві та́ти (I)	Acc., Instr.
to connect to the	пі дключа́ти (І)	пі дключи́ти (II)	Acc., Gen.
network	пі дключа́тися (I)	пі дключи́тися (II)	Gen.
to cook	готува́ти (I)	приготува́ти (I)	Acc.
to cook by boiling	вари́ти (II)	звари́ти (II)	Acc.
to cool	охоло́джувати (I)	охолоди́ти (II)	Acc.
to cost	ко́штувати (I)		Dat., Gen.
to cough	ка́шляти (I)	кашляну́ти (I)	
to count	рахува́ти (I)	порахува́ти (I)	Acc.
to create	створювати (I)	створи́ти (II)	Acc.
to cross	перехо́дити (II)	перейти́ (I)	Acc.
to cry,	пла́кати (I)	попла́кати (I)	
to start crying		запла́кати (I)	
to cure	лі кува́ти (I)	ви́лі кувати (I)	Acc., Instr.
to cut	рі'зати (І)	порії зати (I)	Acc., Instr.
to cut	пі дстрига́ти (І)	пі дстри́гти (I)	Acc., Instr.

4- 1	/ (I)	//T)	A In -t -
to dance	танцюва́ти (I)	станцюва́ти (I)	Acc., Instr.
to deliver	доставля́ти (I)	доста́вити (II)	Acc., Gen., Dat.
to demand	вимага́ти (I)	поста́вити (II)	Acc., Gen., Dat.
. 1		вимо́гу	
to depart	ві дправля́тися (I)	ві дправитися (II)	Acc., Gen., Dat.
to design	офо́рмлювати (I)	офо́рмити (II)	Acc.
to register	(7)	(77)	
to develop (film)	проявля́ти (I)	прояви́ти (II)	Acc.
to dial	набира́ти (I)	набра́ти (I)	Acc.
to discuss	обгово́рювати (I)	обговори́ти (II)	Acc., Instr.
to disturb	турбува́ти (I)	потурбува́ти (I)	Acc., Instr.
to dive	пі рна́ти (I)	пі рну́ти (І)	Acc., Gen.
to do	роби́ти (II)	зроби́ти (II)	Acc.
to do/brush one's	причі́ суватися (I)	причеса́тися (I)	Instr.
hair			
to doubt	сумні ва́тися (I)		Loc.
to draw	малюва́ти (I)	намалюва́ти (I)	Acc.,Loc., Instr.
to dream about	мрі'яти (I)	помрі яти (I)	Acc.
to dress	заправля́ти (I)	запра́вити (II)	Acc., Instr.
to dress	одяга́тися (I)	одягти́ся (I)	Acc.
to drink	пи́ти (I)	ви́пити (I)	Acc.
to drip	зака́пувати (I)	зака́пати (I)	Acc., Instr.
to dry (with a	витира́тися (I)	ви́тертися (I)	Instr.
towel)			1115011
to dry, to air	суши́ти (II)	ви́сушити (II)	Acc., Instr.
to dust the	витира́ти (I) пил	ви́терти (I) пил	(Acc.,) Istr.
furniture			(1100.,) 1501.
to dye, to paint,	фарбува́ти (I)	пофарбува́ти (I),	Acc., Instr.
to varnish	qupoyeum (1)	нафарбувати (II)	Acc., Instr.
to eat	їсти (II)	з'ї сти (II)	Acc., Instr.
to eat one's fill	наї да́тися (I)	наї стися (II)	Instr.
to embroider	вишива́ти (I)	вишити (I)	Acc., Instr.
to enlarge	збі льшувати (I)	збі льшити (II)	Acc.
to ensure	страхува́ти (I)	застрахува́ти (I)	Acc., Gen.
to ensure	вхо́дити (II)	уві йти́ (I)	Acc.
to come in	захо́дити (П)	зайти́ (I)	Acc.
to examine	оглядати (I)	огля́нути (I)	Acc.
to fade	линя́ти (I)	злиняти (I)	1100.
to fade	\ /	впа́сти (I)	Loc Acc Con
	па́дати (I)	```	Loc., Acc., Gen.
to fall asleep	засина́ти (I)	засну́ти (I)	Loc.
to fall in love	зако́хуватися (I)	закоха́тися (I)	Acc.
to feel	почува́ти (I)	_;/ (T)	A = =
4 - f - 1 1.11	ві дчува́ти (I)	ві дчу́ти (І)	Acc.
to feel chilly	моро́зити (II)	/ / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /	Acc.
to feel nauseous	ну́дити (II)	зну́дити (II)	Acc., Gen.
to feel sorry for, to	жалі́ ти (I)	пожалі́ ти (I)	Acc.
regret	/ /**	/ /**	
to feel/get shy	соро́митися (II)	засоро́митися (II)	Gen.
to fill in	запо́внювати (I)	запо́внити (II)	Acc., Instr.
to find	знахо́дити (II)	знайти́ (I)	Acc.

			т.
to finish, to end	закі нчувати (I)	закі нчити (II)	Acc.
,	закі нчуватися (І)	закі нчитися (II)	Instr.
to finish, to	закі нчувати (I)	закі нчи́ти (II)	Acc.
graduate from	′ (II)	, (II)	
to fix	ла́годити (II)	пола́годити (II)	Acc.
to fly	леті́ ти (II)	полеті ти (II)	Acc., Gen., Loc.,
to forbid	(I)		Instr.
to forbid	забороня́ти (I)	заборони́ти (II)	Acc., Dat.
to forget to freeze	забува́ти (I)	забу́ти (I)	Acc.
	заморо́жувати (I)	заморо́зити (II)	Acc.
to frequent	ві дві дувати (I) бува́ти (I)	ві дві дати (I) побувати (I)	Acc. Loc.
to fry	сма́жити (II)	посма́жити (II)	Acc.
	` '	` ′	Acc., Instr.
to gargle	полоска́ти (I) прохо́дити	прополоска́ти (I) пройти́ (I)	
to get by	_		Acc., Gen.
to get lost	блука́ти (I)	заблука́ти (I)	Loc.
to get off	вихо́дити (II) обража́тися (I)	ви́йти (I) обра́зитися (II)	Gen., Acc.
to get offended	ляка́тися (I)	зляка́тися (I)	Gen.
to get scared	` '	` '	Gen.
to get sunburnt	згоря́ти (I)	згорі́ ти (II)	Com
to get tired	втомлюватися (I)	втоми́тися (II)	Gen.
to get to	ді става́тися (І)	ді ста́тися (І)	Acc., Gen., Loc.,
40 004 40	/ (I)	/(II)	Instr.
to get to	потрапля́ти (I)	потра́пити (II)	Acc., Gen.
to get up,	встава́ти (I)	вста́ти (I)	Gen.
to stand up	/ <b>(T</b> )	′ (1)	A D 4
to give	дава́ти (I)	дáти (I)	Acc., Dat.
to glue	кле́ї ти (II)	накле́ї ти (II)	Acc.
to do (bu vobiala)	" (I)	закле́ї ти (II)	Ass Con Iss
to go (by vehicle)	ї хати (I)	пої хати (I)	Acc., Gen., Loc.,
to go (by vehicle)	∜(II)		Instr. Acc., Gen., Loc.,
to go (by venicle)	1 здити (11)		
to do on foot	:/-(T)	-:' (I)	Instr.
to go on foot	і ти́ (I)	пі ти́ (I)	Acc., Gen.
to go on foot	ходи́ти (II)		Acc., Gen.
to go out	вихо́дити (II)	ви́йти (I)	Gen., Acc.
to go to bed	ляга́ти (I) спа́ти	лягти́ (I) спа́ти	Loc.
to grate	те́рти (I)	поте́рти (I)	Acc., Loc.
to grind	моло́ти (I)	змоло́ти (I)	Acc., Loc.
to hang	висі́ ти (II)	:' (II)	Loc.
4-1	ві́ шати (I)	пові сити (II)	Acc., Loc.
to happen	трапля́тися (I)	тра́питися (II)	Loc., Instr.
to hate	нена́виді ти (II)	знена́виді ти (II)	Acc.
to have breakfast	сні дати (I)	посні дати (I)	Instr., Loc.
to have dinner	вече́ряти (I)	повече́ряти (I)	Instr., Loc.
to have fun	весели́тися (II)	повесели́тися (II)	T. t. T
to have lunch	обі дати (I)	пообі дати (I)	Instr., Loc.
to have one's hair	пі дстрига́тися (І)	пі дстри́гтися (I)	Loc., Instr.
cut	1 / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /	1 / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /	T .
to have one's hair	фарбува́тися (I)	пофарбува́тися (I)	Instr.

dyed			
to hear	чýти (I)	почу́ти (I)	Acc., Loc., Gen.
to help	допомага́ти (I)	допомогти́ (I)	Dat., Loc., Instr.
to hurt, to ache	болі́ ти (II)	заболі ти (II)	Nom.
to introduce	представля́ти (I)	предста́вити (II)	Acc., Dat.
to invite	запро́шувати (I)	запроси́ти (II)	Acc.
to iron, to press	прасува́ти (I)	ви́прасувати (I)	Acc.
to itch	чу́хатися (I)		
to joke	жартува́ти (I)	пожартува́ти (I)	Acc., Instr.
to jump	стриба́ти (I)	стрибнути (I)	Acc., Loc., Gen.
to knit	в'яза́ти (I)	зв'яза́ти (I)	Acc., Instr.
to know	зна́ти (I)	ді зна́тися (I)	Acc., Gen.
to laminate	ламі нува́ти (I)	заламі нува́ти (I)	Acc.
to laugh	смі я́тися (І)	засмі я́тися (I)	Instr.
to leak	текти́ (I)	потекти́ (I)	Loc., Acc., Gen.
to lean	притуля́тися (I)	притули́тися (II)	Gen., Instr.
to learn	вчити (II)	вивчити (II)	Acc.
to lengthen	подо́вжувати (I)	подо́вжити (II)	Acc.
to lie	лежа́ти (II)	поле́жати (II)	Loc.
to lie down	ляга́ти (I)	лягти́ (I)	Acc., Loc.
to like, to love	люби́ти (II)	полюби́ти (II)	Acc.
to listen to	слу́хати (I)	послу́хати (I)	Acc.
to live	жи́ти (I)	прожи́ти (I)	Loc.
to look	диви́тися (II)	подиви́тися (II)	Acc., Loc.
to look for/to find	шука́ти (I)	ві дшука́ти (I)	Acc., Loc.
to lose	губи́ти (II)	загуби́ти (II)	Acc., Loc.
to make an appointment (to sign up)	запи́суватися (I)	записа́тися (I)	Acc., Gen.
to make the bed	прибира́ти (I) лі́ жко	прибра́ти (I) лі́ жко	(Acc.)
to make up	нано́сити (II) макі я́ж	нане́сти (II) макі я́ж	Acc.
ош. ир	фарбува́ти (I)	нафарбувати	Acc.
to meet	зустрі ча́ти (I)	зустрі ти (I)	Acc., Loc.
	зустрі ча́тися (I)	зустрі тися (I)	Instr.,Loc.
to melt	танути (I)	розта́нути (I)	Loc.
to miss smb.	скуча́ти (I)	скучити (II)	Instr.
to mistake	помиля́тися (I)	помили́тися (I)	Loc.
to offend	обража́ти (I)	обра́зити (II)	Acc., Instr.
to open	ві дчиня́ти (Í)	ві дчини́ти (II)	Acc.
1	ві дкрива́ти (Í)	ві дкри́ти (Ì)	Acc.
to order	замовля́ти (I)	замо́вити (I)	Acc.
to over-salt	пересо́лювати (I)	пересоли́ти (II)	Acc.
to pass	передава́ти (I)	переда́ти (I)	Acc., Dat.
to pass by (by	прої жджа́ти (I)	прої хати (I)	Acc., Gen., Loc.,
vehicle)			Instr.
to pay	плати́ти (II)	заплати́ти (II)	Acc., Dat.
to pay	опла́чувати (I)	оплати́ти (II)	Acc.
to peel, to clean	чи́стити (II)	почистити (II)	Acc., Instr.
to pepper	пе́рчи́ти (II)	попе́рчи́ти (II)	Acc.
to pick up, to take	зні ма́ти (I)	зня́ти (I)	Acc., Gen.
1 1/		/	1 '

off, to rent			
to play	гра́ти (I)	зі гра́ти (I)	Acc., Loc.
to prefer	ві ддава́ти (I)	ві ддати (I) перева́гу	Dat., Instr.
o preser	перева́гу	21 Adum (1) mep esar y	
to prepare the bed	стели́ти (II) лі жко	постели́ти (II) лі жко	Dat.
to present	дарува́ти (Í)	подарува́ти (Í)	Acc., Dat.
to print	друкува́ти (I)	надрукува́ти (I)	Acc., Loc.
to punch	компостувати (I)	закомпостувати (I)	Acc.
to push	штовха́ти (I)	штовхну́ти (I)	Acc., Instr.
•	штовха́тися (І)		Loc.
to put	кла́сти (I)	покла́сти (I)	Acc., Loc.
to put	ста́вити (II)	поста́вити (II)	Acc., Loc.
to put not enough	недосо́лювати (I)	недосоли́ти (II)	Acc.
salt			
to put on	надяга́ти (I)	надягти́ (I)	Acc.
to put shoes on	взува́тися (I)	взу́тися (I)	
to read	чита́ти (I)	прочита́ти (I)	Acc., Loc.
to receive	отри́мувати (I)	отри́мати (I)	Acc., Gen.
to recommend	рекомендува́ти (I)	порекомендува́ти (I)	Acc., Dat.
to recover	оду́жувати (I)	оду́жати (I)	Gen.
to reduce the price	поступа́тися (I)	поступи́тися (II)	Instr., Dat.
to remove (stain)	виво́дити (II)	ви́вести (I)	Acc., Gen.
to repair	ремонтува́ти (I)	ві дремонтува́ти (І)	Acc.
to repeat	повто́рювати (I)	повтори́ти (II)	Acc., Dat.
to request	проси́ти (II)	попроси́ти (II)	Acc., Gen.
to reserve, to	бронюва́ти (I)	забронюва́ти (I)	Acc., Loc.
book			
to rest	ві дпочива́ти (I)	ві дпочи́ти (І)	Loc.
to return	поверта́ти (I)	поверну́ти (I)	Acc., Dat., Gen.
to return,	здава́ти (I)	зда́ти (I)	Acc., Dat.
to rent out			
to ride	ката́тися (I)	поката́тися (I)	Loc.
to salt	соли́ти (II)	посоли́ти (II)	Acc.
to say, to tell	говори́ти (II)	сказа́ти (I)	Acc., Dat.
	каза́ти (I)		
to see	ба́чити (II)	поба́чити (II)	Acc.
to see a dream	ба́чити (II) сон	поба́чити (II) сон	(Acc.)
to see off	проводжа́ти (I)	прове́сти (I)	Acc.
to sell	продава́ти (I)	прода́ти (I)	Acc., Dat., Loc.
to send	надсила́ти (I)	наді сла́ти (I)	Acc., Dat.
to send	ві дправля́ти (I)	ві дпра́вити (II)	Acc., Dat.
to serve	обслуговувати (I)	обслужи́ти (II)	Acc.
to sew	ши́ти (I)	поши́ти (I)	Acc., Dat.
to shave	голи́ти (II)	поголи́ти (II)	Acc.
	голи́тися (II)	поголи́тися (II)	
to shorten	пі дкоро́чувати (I)	пі дкороти́ти (II)	Acc.
to show	пока́зувати (I)	показа́ти (I)	Acc., Dat.
to shrink	збі га́тися (I)	збі гтися (II)	
to sign	пі дпи́сувати (I)	пі дписа́ти (I)	Acc., Loc.
to sing	спі ва́ти (I)	проспі ва́ти (I)	Acc., Dat., Instr.

to sit to sit down         сіді ти (II)         сісти (I)         Acc.           to sleep         спати (II)         посмі хатися (I)         посмі хатися (I)         Dat.           to smoke         посмі хатися (I)         чхати (I)         чхати (I)         чхати (I)           to sneeze         чхати (I)         чхати (I)         ноговорати (II)         Instr., Acc.           to speak         говорити (II)         посворити (II)         Loc., Instr.           to stand         стояти (II)         постояти (II)         Loc.           to stand, to totand, to totand, to steal         красти (I)         вкрасти (I)         Acc.           to steal         красти (I)         потарити (II)         Acc.           to steal         красти (I)         потарити (II)         Acc.           to stew         тутикувати (I)         потушкувати (I)         Acc.           to stir         розмі шуяти (I)         розмі шяти (I)         Acc.           to stop         зупнияти (I)         дупнияти (II)         Acc.           to stoploving         розмобити (II)         Acc.           to stoploving         гумати (I)         потушкувати (I)         Loc.           to study         вначати (I)         потушкити (II)         Acc. </th <th>. •.</th> <th>" /TT\</th> <th>T</th> <th>T = 1</th>	. •.	" /TT\	T	T = 1
to seep         спати (II)         посмі хатием (I)         посмі хиўгисм (I)         Dat.           to smoke         пали́ти (II)         Асс.         Асс.           to sneeze         чха́ти (I)         чхи́ти (I)         поговори́ти (II)         Instr., Асс.           to speak         говори́ти (II)         поговори́ти (II)         Loc., Instr.           to stand         стоя́ти (II)         постоя́ти (II)         Loc.           to stand         стоя́ти (II)         потерп́ти (II)         Acc.           to stand         потоя́ти (II)         потрушкуйти (II)         Acc.           to steal         кра́сти (I)         потушкува́ти (II)         Acc.           to steal         кра́сти (I)         потушкува́ти (I)         Acc.           to stic         розмі ша́ти (II)         Acc.         Loc., Instr.           to stic         проміна́ти (I)         прошна́ти (II)         Acc.           to stop loving         розміна́ти (I)         прошна́ти (II)         Acc. <t< td=""><td>to sit</td><td>сиді ти (II)</td><td>4 (3)</td><td>Loc.</td></t<>	to sit	сиді ти (II)	4 (3)	Loc.
to smile         посмі ха́тися (I)         посмі ха́тися (I)         дос.           to smoke         паліти (II)         дос.         дос.           to sneeze         ча́ти (I)         ча́ти (I)         потовори́ти (II)         Instr., Acc.           to speak         говори́ти (II)         поговори́ти (II)         Loc., Instr.           to speak         говори́ти (II)         потовори́ти (II)         Loc., Instr.           to speak         говори́ти (II)         потовори́ти (II)         Loc., Instr.           to stend         тори́ти (II)         постояти (II)         Acc.           to stand, to         тори́ти (II)         Acc.         Loc., Gen.           to steam         па́рити (II)         попа́рити (II)         Acc.           to steam         па́рити (II)         попа́рити (II)         Acc.           to stew         тутикува́ти (I)         попа́рити (II)         Acc.           to stew         тутикува́ти (I)         попа́рити (II)         Acc.           to stop         аушна́ти (I)         зушна́ти (II)         Acc.           to stop loving         розлю́й́ти (II)         Acc.           to stop loving         розлю́й́ти (II)         Acc.           to study         вивча́ти (I)         ви́ру́й́				
to smoke         пали́ти (I)         чхи́ти (I)         Асс.           to sneeze         чхи́ти (I)         чхи́ти (I)         Instr., Acc.           to speak         говори́ти (II)         поговори́ти (II)         Instr., Acc.           to spend time         проводити (II)         посто́яти (II)         Loc., Instr.           to stand         сто́яти (II)         посто́яти (II)         Acc.           to steal         кра́сти (I)         попа́рити (II)         Acc.           to steal         тушкува́ти (I)         пото́я́ти (II)         Acc.           to stic         розмі шувати (I)         потушкува́ти (I)         Acc.           to stic         позмі шува́ти (I)         зушни́ти (II)         Acc.           to stop         зушна́ти (I)         зушна́ти (II)         Acc.           to stop loving         розлю́я́ти (II)         Acc.           to stop loving         розлю́я́ти (I)         Loc.           to stoll         гу́я́ти (I)         ви́я́ти (II)         Acc. <td>-</td> <td>` ′</td> <td>\ /</td> <td>+</td>	-	` ′	\ /	+
to speak         уха́ти (I)         уха́ти (I)         уха́ти (I)         уха́ти (I)         поговори́ти (II)         Instr., Acc.           to spead time         прово́дити (II)         погобори́ти (II)         Loc., Instr.         to stand         сто́лти (II)         посто́лти (II)         Loc., Instr.           to stand         сто́лти (II)         потери́ти (II)         Acc.         to stand, to stand, to stand, to stean         па́рити (II)         Acc.         to stean         тушкува́ти (I)         полушкува́ти (I)         Acc.         to stean         to stean         to stean         па́рити (II)         Acc.         to stean         to scean		` ,	посмі хнутися (1)	
to speak         говори́ти (II)         поговори́ти (II)         Instr., Acc.           to spend time         прово́дити (II)         прово́дити (II)         Loc.           to stand         стоя́ти (II)         постоя́ти (II)         Loc.           to stand, to tolerate         кра́сти (I)         вкра́сти (I)         Acc.           to steal         кра́сти (I)         вкра́сти (I)         Acc.           to steam         па́рити (II)         поприкува́ти (I)         Acc.           to stew         тушкува́ти (I)         провий пувати (I)         Acc.           to stew         тушкува́ти (I)         провий пувати (I)         Acc.           to stich         провива́ти (I)         провийти (II)         Acc.           to stop         зупиня́ти (I)         зупиня́ти (II)         Acc.           to stop loving         розлюби́ти (II)         Acc.           to stop loving         гуля́ти (I)         ногуля́ти (I)         Loc.           to stop loving         гуля́ти (I)         ногуля́ти (II)         Acc.           to stop loving         гуля́ти (I)         ногуля́ти (II)         Acc.           to stop loving         гуля́ти (I)         ногуля́ти (II)         Acc.           to stud         гуля́ти (I) <t< td=""><td></td><td>` /</td><td></td><td>Acc.</td></t<>		` /		Acc.
to spend time         проводити (II)         постояти (II)         Loc.           to stand, to stand, to to stand to steel         тери ти (II)         потерий ти (II)         Acc.           to steal         красти (I)         вкрасти (I)         Acc., Loc., Gen.           to steal         красти (II)         поларити (II)         Acc.           to stew         тушкува́ти (I)         полушкува́ти (I)         Acc.           to stew         тушкува́ти (I)         полушкува́ти (I)         Acc.           to stir         розмі шувати (I)         прошива́ти (I)         Acc.           to stir         прошива́ти (I)         зупнийти (II)         Acc.           to stoploving         розлюбити (II)         Acc.           to stop loving         розлюбити (II)         Acc.           to stroll         гуза́ти (I)         погуза́ти (I)         Loc.           to study         вивча́ти (I)         визити (II)         Acc.           to suit         пі дхо́дити (II)         він даги (II)         Loc.           to suit         пі дхо́дити (I)         вагора́ти (II)         Loc.           to switch oto switch oto switch off         вимна́ти (I)         поповнити (II)         Acc., Loc., Instr., Acc., Gen.		` /	, , ,	
to stand, to tolerate  to steal кра́сти (I) вкра́сти (I) Асс., Loc., Gen. to steal кра́сти (II) потршкува́ти (I) Асс., Loc., Gen. to steam па́рити (II) потршкува́ти (I) Асс., Loc., Gen. to steam па́рити (II) потршкува́ти (I) Асс., Instr. to stitch прошива́ти (I) проши́ти (II) Асс., Instr. to stitch прошива́ти (I) зупиніти (II) Асс. to stop зупиня́тися (I) зупиніти (II) Асс. to stop проши́ти (II) потршкува́ти (II) Асс. to stop проши́ти (II) потршкува́ти (II) Асс. to stop loving прошо́ти (II) потршкува́ти (II) Прошо́ти (II) Асс. to study вивча́ти (I) вівчити (II) Асс. to suit підхо́дити (II) підійті (II) Прошо́ти (II) Прийо́ти (I	to speak	• ` ` `	• ` '	
to stand, to tolerate				-
to steal кра́сти (I) вкра́сти (I) Асс., Loc., Gen. to steam па́рити (II) попа́рити (II) Асс. to stew тушкува́ти (I) потушкува́ти (I) Асс. to stir розмі́шувати (I) проші́ти (II) Асс. to stir проші́ти (II) проші́ти (II) Асс. to stir проші́ти (II) проші́ти (II) Асс. to stop зушна́ти (I) зушна́ти (II) Асс. to stop зушна́ти (I) зушна́ти (II) Асс. to stop loving проші́ти (II) Потумі́ти (II) Асс. to study ввівча́ти (I) ві́вчити (II) Асс. to study ввівча́ти (I) ві́вчити (II) Асс. to study ввівча́ти (I) ві́вчити (II) Асс. to suit пі́дхо́дити (II) пі́ді́ти (I) Dat. to sunbathe, to sunbathe, to sunbathe, to sunbathe, to sunbathe (II) загорі́ти (II) попу́внити (III) (Асс.) пос. suntan помо́внювати (I) попо́внити (III) (Асс.) раху́нок раху́нок пі́дмі́ти (I) Попі́двіти (II) Попі́двіти (II) Асс., Loc. to swim пі́дмі́ти (I) попі́двіти (II) Асс., Instr., попі́двіти (II) Асс., Gen. to switch off вимика́ти (I) ві́мкнути (I) Асс. Gen. to switch on вмика́ти (I) уві́мкну́ти (I) Асс. to take (food, прий́ма́ти (I) Асс. Gen. to take a прий́ма́ти (I) прий́ма́ти (I) прий́ма́ти (I) Асс., Gen. прий́ма́ти (I) прий́ма́ти (I) Асс., Gen. to take another seat, to transfer to another transport to take another seat, to transfer to nother transport to take shoes off pоззува́тися (I) прозу́тися (I) Пос. to take shoes off pоззува́тися (I) прозу́тися (I) Пос. to take shoes off pоззува́ти (I) прозу́тися (I) Пос. to take holes off pоззува́ти (I) поду́мати (I) Асс., Doc. to take holes off pоззува́ти (I) поду́мати (I) пробра́ти (I) Асс., Loc. to tidy up пробра́ти (I) пробра́ти (I) Асс., Loc.		` /	\ /	
to steal to steam парити (II) to steam парити (II) попарити (II) потушкувати (I) потушкувати (II) потушкувати (I) потушкув		терпі́ ти (II)	потерпі ти (II)	Acc.
to steam         па́рити (II)         попа́рити (II)         Асс.           to stew         тушкува́ти (I)         потушкува́ти (I)         Асс.           to stir         розмі́ шувати (I)         промі́ ша́ти (I)         Асс.           to stitch         прошива́ти (I)         зушни́ти (II)         Асс.           to stop         зушни́ти (I)         Асс.           ayшна́ти (I)         зушни́ти (II)         Асс.           to stop         розлоби́ти (II)         Асс.           to stop         розлоби́ти (II)         Асс.           to stroll         гула́ти (I)         потула́ти (I)         Loc.           to stroll         гула́ти (I)         вівчити (II)         Асс.           to study         вивча́ти (I)         вівчити (II)         Асс.           to suit         пі дхо́дити (II)         загорі́ти (II)         Loc.           to suit         пі дхо́дити (II)         пі ді йти́ (I)         Loc.           suntan         попо́внити (II)         Loc.         Loc.           suntan         попо́внити (II)         Loc.         Loc.           suntan         попо́внити (II)         Loc.         Loc.           to switch off         вимика́ти (I)         вімімкнути (I) <td< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></td<>				
to stew         тушкувати (I)         потушкувати (I)         Асс.           to stir         розмі шувати (I)         прозмі шати (I)         Асс., Instr.           to stitch         прошивати (I)         прошити (I)         Асс.           to stop         зупинатися (II)         Дос.           to stop loving         розлюбити (II)         Асс.           to stop loving         розлюбити (II)         Асс.           to stoldy         вивчати (I)         потуляти (I)         Loc.           to study         вивчати (I)         потуляти (II)         Dat.           to suit         пі дходити (II)         пасс.         Пасс.           to suit         пі дходити (I)         загоря́ти (II)         Loc.           to suit         пі дходити (I)         поповнити (II)         Loc.           to suit         помовнювати (I)         поповнити (II)         (Acc.)           to suitch oft         помовнювати (I)         пополавати (I)         Acc., Loc.           to switch off         вимикати (I)         поплавати (I)         Acc., Instr., Acc., Gen.           to switch off         вимикати (I)         вимикати (I)         Acc.           to switch off         вимикати (I)         попавати (I)         Acc.      <				Acc., Loc., Gen.
to stir		• ` ′		
to stitch to stop зуння́ти (I) зуння́ти (I) зуння́ти (II) зуння́ти (II) зуння́ти (II) дос.  to stop loving poɔлюби́ти (II) to stroll ryɹя́ти (I) poɔлюби́ти (II) poɔnюби́ти (				Acc.
to stop         зупиня́ти (I)         зупиня́тися (II)         Асс.           to stop loving         розлюби́ти (II)         Асс.           to stroll         гуля́ти (I)         Пос.           to study         внвча́ти (I)         ви́вчити (II)         Асс.           to suit         пі дхо́дити (II)         пі ді йти́ (I)         Dat.           to suit         пі дхо́дити (II)         пі ді йти́ (I)         Dat.           to suit         пі дхо́дити (II)         пі ді йти́ (I)         Loc.           suntan         загоря́ти (I)         Loc.            to suibathe, to suit         попо́внювати (I)         попо́внити (II)         Loc.           suntan         попо́внювати (I)         попо́внити (II)         (Acc.)           to suitch         пайата́т (I)         пі дмє́сти (I)         Acc., Loc.           to sweep         пі дмі та́ти (I)         попла́вати (I)         Loc., Instr.           to switch off         вимика́ти (I)         ви́мкнути (I)         Acc., Gen.           to switch off         вимка́ти (I)         ви́мкнути (I)         Acc.           to take (food,         прийма́ти (I)         ва́я́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take (food,         прийма́ти (I)         прийма́ти (I)			•	Acc., Instr.
to stop loving         зупиня́тися (I)         зупини́тися (II)         Loc.           to stroll         гуля́ти (I)         ногуля́ти (I)         Loc.           to study         вывча́ти (I)         выя́чити (II)         Acc.           to suit         пі дхо́дити (II)         під йти́ (I)         Dat.           to sunbathe, to sunbathe, to sunbathe, to supplement the account         попо́внювати (I)         попо́внити (II)         Loc.           to supplement the account         попо́вновати (I)         попо́внити (II)         (Acc.)           to sweep         пі дмі та́ти (I)         пі дмє́сти (I)         Acc., Loc.           to swim         пла́вати (I)         попла́вати (I)         Loc., Instr., Acc., Gen.           to switch off         вимика́ти (I)         ви́мкну́ти (I)         Acc.           to switch on         виміка́ти (I)         уві мкну́ти (I)         Acc.           to switch on         виміка́ти (I)         уві мкну́ти (I)         Acc.           to switch on         виміка́ти (I)         уві мкну́ти (I)         Acc.           to take (food, medicine)         прийма́ти (I)         прийня́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take a (food, medicine)         прийма́ти (I)         прийня́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take awother seat,	to stitch		проши́ти (I)	Acc.
to stop loving to stroll ryля́ти (I) noryля́ти (I) to study вивча́ти (I) ви́вчити (II) ви́вчити (II) ви́вчити (II) рас.  to suit ni дхо́дити (II) пі ді йти́ (I) рас.  to sunbathe, to suntan to supplement the account paxýнок пла́вати (I) пливти́ (I) ви́мкнути (I) ко switch off вимика́ти (I) ви́мкнути (I) ви́мкнути (I) ко switch on вимка́ти (I) ви́мкнути (I) ви́мкнути (I) ко switch on вимка́ти (I) ви́мкнути (I) ви́мкнути (I) дос., Instr., Acc., Gen.  to switch off вимика́ти (I) ви́мкнути (I) дос.  to sympathize cni вчува́ти (I) поспі вчува́ти (I) дос.  to take бра́ти (I) прийна́ти (I) дос.  прийна́ти (I) прийна́ти (I) дос.  фотографува́ти (I) пораўунок порайуна́ти (I) дос., Instr.  Асс., Gen.  10 Acc., Gen.  10 Acc., Gen. 10 Acc., Gen. 10 Acc., Gen. 10 Acc., Gen. 10 Acc., Gen. 10 Acc., Gen. 10 Acc., Loc. 10 take away 10 Sapá́ти (I) 11 Sapá́ти (I) 12 Sapá́ти (I) 13 Sapá́ти (I) 14 Acc., Loc. 15 take shoes off 16 poззува́тися (I) 17 пода́кувати (I) 18 Acc., Loc. 16 take 17 Instr., Loc. 18 Instr., Loc. 19 Acc., Dat., Loc. 10 to takn 10 ду́мати (I) 10 пода́кувати (I) 10 Acc., Loc.	to stop			Acc.
to stroll to study вивчати (I) вибчити (II) возинан пододити (II) вибчити (II) возинан возираети (В вирити (II) возираети (В вирити (В винити (В вирити (В винити (В видити (В винити (В видити (В винити		зупиня́тися (I)		Loc.
to study         вивчати (I)         ви́вчити (II)         Асс.           to suit         пі дхо́дити (II)         пі ді йти́ (I)         Dat.           to sunbathe, to suntan         загоря́ти (I)         загорі́ти (II)         Loc.           suntan         помівновати (I)         помівнити (II)         (Acc.)           to supplement the account         помівновати (I)         помівнити (II)         Асс., Loc.           to sweep         пі дмі та́ти (I)         пі дмєсти (I)         Loc., Instr., Acc., Gen.           to swim         пла́вати (I)         попла́вати (I)         Loc., Instr., Acc., Gen.           to switch off         вимика́ти (I)         ви́мкнути (I)         Acc.           to switch on         вмика́ти (I)         ва́мкну́ти (I)         Acc.           to switch on         вмика́ти (I)         ва́яти (I)         Dat.           to take         бра́ти (I)         ва́яти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take (food, medicine)         прийма́ти (I)         прийна́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take a (soe)         прийма́ти (I)         прийна́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take a (soe)         прийма́ти (I)         прийна́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take away         забира́ти (I)         до́ра́у́ти (			розлюби́ти (II)	Acc.
to suit         пі дхо́дити (II)         пі ді йти́ (I)         Dat.           to sunbathe, to sunbathe, to suntan         загоря́ти (I)         загорі́ти (II)         Loc.           to supplement the account         попо́внювати (I)         попо́внити (II)         (Acc.)           to sweep         пі дмі та́ти (I)         пі дме́сти (I)         Loc., Loc.           to swim         пла́вати (I)         попла́вати (I)         Loc., Instr., Acc., Gen.           to switch off         вимка́ти (I)         ви́мкнути (I)         Acc.           to switch on         вмика́ти (I)         уві мкну́ти (I)         Acc.           to sympathize         спі вчува́ти (I)         поспі вчува́ти (I)         Dat.           to take         бра́ти (I)         ва́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take (food, medicine)         прийма́ти (I)         прийня́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take another seat, to transfer to another transport         переса́джуватися (I)         пересі́сти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take away         забира́ти (I)         забра́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take apictures         фотографува́ти (I)         сфотографува́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take shoes off         розура́тися (I)         Instr., Loc.           to talk	to stroll		•	Loc.
to sunbathe, to suntan         загоря́ти (I)         загоря́ти (II)         Loc.           to supplement the account paxýнок         попо́внювати (I)         попо́внити (II)         (Acc.)           to sweep         пі дмі та́ти (I)         попла́вати (I)         Loc., Loc.           to swim         пла́вати (I)         попла́вати (I)         Loc., Instr., Acc., Gen.           to switch off         вимика́ти (I)         ви́мкнути (I)         Acc.           to switch on switch on bmukáти (I)         ви́мкнути (I)         Acc.           to sympathize cni вчува́ти (I)         поспі вчува́ти (I)         Dat.           to take (food, прийма́ти (I)         прийма́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take (food, прийма́ти (I)         прийма́ти (I)         Асс., Gen.           to take another seat, to transfer to another transport         переса́джуватися (I)         пересі́сти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take away         забира́ти (I)         забра́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take ayay         забира́ти (I)         сфотографува́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take shoes off         роззува́тися (I)         роззу́тися (I)         Instr., Loc.           to take shoes off         розмовля́ти (I)         подя́кувати (I)         Dat., Acc.           to take         ви	to study			Acc.
suntan         попо́внювати (I)         попо́внити (II)         (Acc.)           to sweep         пі дмі та́ти (I)         підмєсти (I)         Acc., Loc.           to swim         пла́вати (I)         попла́вати (I)         Loc., Instr., Acc., Gen.           to switch off         вимика́ти (I)         ви́мкнути (I)         Acc.           to switch on         вмика́ти (I)         уві мкну́ти (I)         Acc.           to sympathize         спі вчува́ти (I)         поспі вчува́ти (I)         Dat.           to take         бра́ти (I)         вза́ти (I)         Асс., Gen.           to take (food, medicine)         прийма́ти (I)         прийна́ти (I)         Acc.           to take a         прийма́ти (I)         прийна́ти (I)         Acc.           seat, to transfer to another seat, to transfer to another transport         переса́джуватися (I)         переса́сти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take away         забира́ти (I)         забра́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take shoes off         роззува́тися (I)         роззува́тися (I)         Instr., Loc.           to talk         розмовла́ти (I)         пода́кувати (I)         Acc., Dat., Loc.           to talah         да́кувати (I)         пода́кувати (I)         Dat., Acc.           to think	to suit		\ /	Dat.
to supplement the account         попо́внювати (I)         попо́внити (II)         (Acc.)           to sweep         пі дмі та́ти (I)         пі дме́сти (I)         Acc., Loc.           to swim         пла́вати (I)         попла́вати (I)         Loc., Instr., Acc., Gen.           to switch off         вимика́ти (I)         ви́мкнути (I)         Acc.           to switch on         вмика́ти (I)         уві мкну́ти (I)         Acc.           to sympathize         спі вчува́ти (I)         поспі вчува́ти (I)         Dat.           to take         бра́ти (I)         вза́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take (food, прийма́ти (I)         прийма́ти (I)         Асс., Gen.           medicine)         прийма́ти (I)         прийна́ти (I)         Acc.           to take a onther seat, to transfer to another transport         пересі́ сти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take another seat, to transfer to another transport         пересі́ сти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take apotures         переса́джуватися (I)         дабра́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take shoes off         роззува́тися (I)         роззу́тися (I)         Acc., Loc.           to take shoes off         роззува́тися (I)         Instr., Loc.           to talk         розмовла́ти (I)         под́кувати (	to sunbathe, to	загоря́ти (I)	загорі́ ти (II)	Loc.
account         раху́нок         раху́нок           to sweep         пі дмі та́ти (I)         пі дме́сти (I)         Асс., Loc.           to swim         пла́вати (I)         попла́вати (I)         Loc., Instr., Acc., Gen.           to switch off         вимика́ти (I)         ви́мкнути (I)         Acc.           to switch on         вмика́ти (I)         уві мкну́ти (I)         Acc.           to sympathize         спі вчува́ти (I)         поспі вчува́ти (I)         Dat.           to take         бра́ти (I)         вза́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take (food, прийма́ти (I)         прийма́ти (I)         Acc.           medicine)         прийма́ти (I)         прийна́ти (I)         Acc.           to take a foother seat, to transfer to another seat, to transfer to another transport         пересі́ сти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take away         забира́ти (I)         забра́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take pictures         фотографува́ти (I)         сфотографува́ти (I)         Acc., Loc.           to take shoes off         роззува́тися (I)         проззу́тися (I)         Instr., Loc.           to take shoes off         роззува́ти (I)         Acc., Dat., Loc.           to take holes         виклада́ти (I)         под́кувати (I)         Dat., Acc. </td <td>suntan</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	suntan			
to sweep         пі дмі тати (I)         пі дмести (I)         Асс., Loc.           to swim         плавати (I)         поплавати (I)         Loc., Instr., Acc., Gen.           to switch off         вимикати (I)         вимкнути (I)         Acc.           to switch on         вмикати (I)         уві мкнути (I)         Acc.           to sympathize         спі вчувати (I)         поспі вчувати (I)         Dat.           to take         брати (I)         взя́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take (food, приймати (I)         приймати (I)         душ/ва́нну           to take a nother seat, to transfer to another transport         переса́джуватися (I)         пересі́ сти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take away         забира́ти (I)         забра́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take pictures         фотографува́ти (I)         сфотографува́ти (I)         Acc., Loc.           to take shoes off         роззува́тися (I)         позу́утися (I)         Instr., Loc.           to take hoke         виклада́ти (I)         подя́кувати (I)         Dat., Acc.           to thank         дя́умати (I)         поду́мати (I)         Acc., Loc.	to supplement the	попо́внювати (I)	попо́внити (II)	(Acc.)
to swim         пла́вати (I)         попла́вати (I)         Loc., Instr.           to switch off         вимика́ти (I)         ви́мкнути (I)         Acc.           to switch on         вмика́ти (I)         уві мкнути (I)         Acc.           to sympathize         спі вчува́ти (I)         поспі вчува́ти (I)         Dat.           to take         бра́ти (I)         взя́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take (food, medicine)         прийма́ти (I)         прийня́ти (I)         Acc.           to take a shower/bath         прийма́ти (I)         прийня́ти (I)         Acc.           seat, to transfer to another seat, to transfer to another transport         переса́джуватися (I)         пересі́ сти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take away         забира́ти (I)         забра́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take pictures         фотографува́ти (I)         сфотографува́ти (I)         Acc., Loc.           to take shoes off         роззува́тися (I)         роззу́тися (I)         Instr., Loc.           to take hoes off         розомовля́ти (I)         Instr., Loc.         Acc., Dat., Loc.           to takeh         дя́кувати (I)         поду́мати (I)         Dat., Acc.           to thank         дя́мати (I)         поду́мати (I)         Acc., Loc.	account		1 1	
пливти́ (I)	_			
to switch off         вимика́ти (I)         ви́мкнути (I)         Acc.           to switch on         вмика́ти (I)         уві мкну́ти (I)         Acc.           to sympathize         спі вчува́ти (I)         поспі вчува́ти (I)         Dat.           to take         бра́ти (I)         вза́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take (food, mpuйма́ти (I)         прийма́ти (I)         прийня́ти (I)           medicine)         прийма́ти (I)         прийня́ти (I)           to take a         прийма́ти (I)         душ/ва́нну           to take another         переса́джуватися (I)         пересі́ сти (I)         Acc., Gen.           another transport         переса́джуватися (I)         забра́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take away         забира́ти (I)         забра́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take pictures         фотографува́ти (I)         сфотографува́ти (I)         Acc., Loc.           to take shoes off         роззува́тися (I)         Instr., Loc.           to take shoes off         розмовла́ти (I)         Instr., Loc.           to take hokes off         виклада́ти (I)         подя́кувати (I)         Dat., Acc.           to thank         да́кувати (I)         поду́мати (I)         Acc.           to think         ду́мати (I) <td>to swim</td> <td>` /</td> <td>` '</td> <td></td>	to swim	` /	` '	
to switch off         вимика́ти (I)         ви́мкнути (I)         Acc.           to switch on         вмика́ти (I)         уві мкну́ти (I)         Acc.           to sympathize         спі вчува́ти (I)         поспі вчува́ти (I)         Dat.           to take         бра́ти (I)         взя́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take (food, mpuйма́ти (I)         прийма́ти (I)         Acc.           medicine)         прийма́ти (I)         прийна́ти (I)         Acc.           shower/bath         душ/ва́нну         прийна́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take another         переса́джуватися (I)         пересі́ сти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take away         забира́ти (I)         забра́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take pictures         фотографува́ти (I)         сфотографува́ти (I)         Acc., Loc.           to take shoes off         роззува́тися (I)         роззу́тися (I)         Instr., Loc.           to talk         розмовла́ти (I)         пода́кувати (I)         Acc., Dat., Loc.           to thank         да́кувати (I)         поду́мати (I)         Acc., Loc.           to tidy up         приби́а́ти (I)         прибра́ти (I)         Acc., Loc.		пливти́ (I)	попливти́ (I)	
to switch on         вмика́ти (I)         уві мкну́ти (I)         Асс.           to sympathize         спі вчува́ти (I)         поспі вчува́ти (I)         Dat.           to take         бра́ти (I)         вза́ти (I)         Асс., Gen.           to take (food, mpuйма́ти (I)         прийма́ти (I)         Асс.           medicine)         прийма́ти (I)         прийна́ти (I)         Асс.           shower/bath         душ/ва́нну         Душ/ва́нну         Асс., Gen.           to take another         переса́джуватися (I)         Асс., Gen.           seat, to transfer to another transport         переса́джуватися (I)         Асс., Gen.           to take pictures         фотографува́ти (I)         Асс., Gen.           to take shoes off         роззува́тися (I)         роззу́тися (I)           to talk         розмовля́ти (I)         Instr., Loc.           to teach         виклада́ти (I)         Асс., Dat., Loc.           to thank         дя́кувати (I)         подя́кувати (I)         Dat., Acc.           to think         ду́мати (I)         прибра́ти (I)         Acc., Loc.				
to sympathize         спі вчува́ти (I)         поспі вчува́ти (I)         Dat.           to take         бра́ти (I)         вза́ти (I)         Асс., Gen.           to take (food, medicine)         прийма́ти (I)         прийна́ти (I)         Асс.           to take a         прийма́ти (I)         прийна́ти (I)         душ/ва́нну           to take another seat, to transfer to another transport         переса́джуватися (I)         пересі́сти (I)         Асс., Gen.           to take away         забира́ти (I)         забра́ти (I)         Асс., Gen.           to take pictures         фотографува́ти (I)         сфотографува́ти (I)         Асс., Loc.           to take shoes off         роззува́тися (I)         роззу́тися (I)         Instr., Loc.           to talk         розмовла́ти (I)         Асс., Dat., Loc.         Асс., Dat., Loc.           to thank         дя́кувати (I)         подя́кувати (I)         Dat., Acc.           to think         ду́мати (I)         прибра́ти (I)         Acc., Loc.		вимика́ти (I)		
to take         бра́ти (I)         взя́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take (food, medicine)         прийма́ти (I)         прийня́ти (I)         Acc.           to take a shower/bath         прийма́ти (I)         прийня́ти (I)         душ/ва́нну           to take another seat, to transfer to another transport         переса́джуватися (I)         пересі́ сти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take away         забира́ти (I)         забра́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take pictures         фотографува́ти (I)         сфотографува́ти (I)         Acc., Loc.           to take shoes off         розува́тися (I)         роззу́тися (I)         Instr., Loc.           to talk         розмовля́ти (I)         Inoдя́кувати (I)         Acc., Dat., Loc.           to thank         дя́кувати (I)         подя́кувати (I)         Acc.           to think         ду́мати (I)         прибира́ти (I)         Acc., Loc.			уві мкну́ти (І)	Acc.
to take (food, medicine)  to take a приймати (I) прийняти (I) душ/ва́нну  to take a приймати (I) душ/ва́нну  to take another seat, to transfer to another transport  to take away забира́ти (I) забра́ти (I) Асс., Gen.  to take pictures фотографува́ти (I) сфотографува́ти (I) Асс., Loc.  to take shoes off роззува́тися (I) роззу́тися (I)  to talk розмовля́ти (I) Глет, Loc.  to teach виклада́ти (I) подя́кувати (I) Dat., Acc.  to think ду́мати (I) поду́мати (I) Асс., Loc.  to tidy up прибира́ти (I) прибра́ти (I) Асс., Loc.		• ` '	поспі вчува́ти (I)	
medicine)прийма́ти (I)прийня́ти (I)shower/bathдуш/ва́ннудуш/ва́ннуto take another seat, to transfer to another transportпереса́джуватися (I)пересі́сти (I)Асс., Gen.to take awayзабира́ти (I)забра́ти (I)Асс., Gen.to take picturesфотографува́ти (I)сфотографува́ти (I)Асс., Loc.to take shoes offроззува́тися (I)роззу́тися (I)to talkрозмовля́ти (I)Instr., Loc.to teachвиклада́ти (I)Асс., Dat., Loc.to thankдя́кувати (I)подя́кувати (I)Dat., Acc.to thinkду́мати (I)поду́мати (I)Асс., Loc.to tidy upприбира́ти (I)прибра́ти (I)Acc., Loc.		1 /	` /	Acc., Gen.
to take a прийма́ти (I) душ/ва́нну душ/ва́нну  to take another seat, to transfer to another transport to take away забира́ти (I) забра́ти (I) дес., Gen.  to take pictures фотографува́ти (I) сфотографува́ти (I) дес., Loc. to take shoes off роззува́тися (I) роззу́тися (I) Instr., Loc. to take виклада́ти (I) дес., Dat., Loc. to thank дя́кувати (I) подя́кувати (I) дес. to think ду́мати (I) поду́мати (I) дес. to tidy up прибира́ти (I) прибра́ти (I) дес., Loc.		прийма́ти (I)	прийня́ти (I)	Acc.
shower/bathдуш/ва́ннудуш/ва́ннуto take another seat, to transfer to another transportпереса́джуватися (I) переса́джуватися (I)переса́сти (I) забра́ти (I)Асс., Gen.to take awayзабира́ти (I)сфотографува́ти (I)Асс., Gen.to take picturesфотографува́ти (I)роззу́тися (I)to take shoes offроззува́тися (I)поззу́тися (I)to talkрозмовля́ти (I)Instr., Loc.to teachвиклада́ти (I)Асс., Dat., Loc.to thankдя́кувати (I)подя́кувати (I)Dat., Acc.to thinkду́мати (I)поду́мати (I)Асс., Loc.to tidy upприбира́ти (I)прибра́ти (I)Асс., Loc.	,			
to take another seat, to transfer to another transport         переса́джуватися (I)         пересі́ сти (I)         Асс., Gen.           to take away         забира́ти (I)         забра́ти (I)         Асс., Gen.           to take pictures         фотографува́ти (I)         сфотографува́ти (I)         Асс., Loc.           to take shoes off         роззува́тися (I)         роззу́тися (I)         Instr., Loc.           to talk         розмовля́ти (I)         Асс., Dat., Loc.         Оат., Loc.           to teach         виклада́ти (I)         подя́кувати (I)         Dat., Acc.           to thank         ду́мати (I)         поду́мати (I)         Асс.           to think         ду́мати (I)         прибра́ти (I)         Асс., Loc.			прийня́ти (I)	
seat, to transfer to another transport         переса́джуватися (I)         пересі́ сти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take away         забира́ти (I)         забра́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take pictures         фотографува́ти (I)         сфотографува́ти (I)         Acc., Loc.           to take shoes off         роззува́тися (I)         роззу́тися (I)         Instr., Loc.           to talk         розмовля́ти (I)         Acc., Dat., Loc.         Acc., Dat., Loc.           to teach         виклада́ти (I)         подя́кувати (I)         Dat., Acc.           to thank         ду́мати (I)         поду́мати (I)         Acc., Loc.           to tidy up         прибира́ти (I)         прибра́ти (I)         Acc., Loc.		душ/ва́нну	душ/ва́нну	
another transport         забира́ти (I)         забра́ти (I)         Асс., Gen.           to take away         забира́ти (I)         сфотографува́ти (I)         Асс., Loc.           to take pictures         фотографува́ти (I)         роззу́тися (I)           to take shoes off         розмовля́ти (I)         Instr., Loc.           to talk         розмовля́ти (I)         Acc., Dat., Loc.           to teach         виклада́ти (I)         подя́кувати (I)         Dat., Acc.           to thank         ду́мати (I)         поду́мати (I)         Acc., Loc.           to think         ду́мати (I)         прибра́ти (I)         Acc., Loc.				
to take away         забира́ти (I)         забра́ти (I)         Acc., Gen.           to take pictures         фотографува́ти (I)         сфотографува́ти (I)         Acc., Loc.           to take shoes off         роззува́тися (I)         роззу́тися (I)         Instr., Loc.           to talk         розмовля́ти (I)         Acc., Dat., Loc.         Acc., Dat., Loc.           to teach         дя́кувати (I)         подя́кувати (I)         Dat., Acc.           to thank         ду́мати (I)         поду́мати (I)         Acc.           to tidy up         прибира́ти (I)         прибра́ти (I)         Acc., Loc.	1	переса́джуватися (I)	пересі сти (I)	Acc., Gen.
to take pictures         фотографува́ти (I)         сфотографува́ти (I)         Acc., Loc.           to take shoes off         роззува́тися (I)         роззу́тися (I)         Instr., Loc.           to talk         розмовля́ти (I)         Acc., Dat., Loc.           to teach         виклада́ти (I)         подя́кувати (I)         Dat., Acc.           to thank         ду́мати (I)         поду́мати (I)         Acc., Loc.           to think         ду́мати (I)         прибра́ти (I)         Acc., Loc.				
to take shoes off         роззува́тися (I)         роззу́тися (I)           to talk         розмовля́ти (I)         Instr., Loc.           to teach         виклада́ти (I)         Acc., Dat., Loc.           to thank         дя́кувати (I)         подя́кувати (I)         Dat., Acc.           to think         ду́мати (I)         поду́мати (I)         Acc.           to tidy up         прибира́ти (I)         прибра́ти (I)         Acc., Loc.		- ` /		Acc., Gen.
to talk         розмовля́ти (I)         Instr., Loc.           to teach         виклада́ти (I)         Acc., Dat., Loc.           to thank         дя́кувати (I)         подя́кувати (I)         Dat., Acc.           to think         ду́мати (I)         поду́мати (I)         Acc.           to tidy up         прибира́ти (I)         прибра́ти (I)         Acc., Loc.			сфотографува́ти (I)	Acc., Loc.
to teach         виклада́ти (I)         Acc., Dat., Loc.           to thank         дя́кувати (I)         подя́кувати (I)         Dat., Acc.           to think         ду́мати (I)         поду́мати (I)         Acc.           to tidy up         прибира́ти (I)         прибра́ти (I)         Acc., Loc.		1 1	роззу́тися (I)	
to thank         дя́кувати (I)         подя́кувати (I)         Dat., Acc.           to think         ду́мати (I)         поду́мати (I)         Acc.           to tidy up         прибира́ти (I)         прибра́ти (I)         Acc., Loc.				·
to think         ду́мати (I)         поду́мати (I)         Acc.           to tidy up         прибира́ти (I)         прибра́ти (I)         Acc., Loc.				
to tidy up прибира́ти (I) прибра́ти (I) Acc., Loc.			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
	to think			Acc.
to touch чі па́ти (I) зачепи́ти (II) Acc.	to tidy up	прибира́ти (I)	прибра́ти (I)	Acc., Loc.
	to touch	чі па́ти (I)	зачепи́ти (II)	Acc.

to translate	переклада́ти (I)	перекла́сти (I)	Acc.
to travel	подорожува́ти (I)	перекласти (т)	Loc., Instr.
Cottavci	мандрувати (I)		Loc., Instr.
to treat	пригощати (I)	пригости́ти (II)	Acc., Instr.
to treat oneself	1	• ` '	Instr.
	пригоща́тися (I)	пригости́тися (II)	
to try	куштува́ти (I)	скуштува́ти (I)	Acc.
to try on	мі'ряти (I)	помі'ряти (I)	Acc.
to turn	поверта́ти (I)	поверну́ти (I)	Acc., Gen.
to understand	розумі ти (I)	зрозумі ти (I)	Acc.
to undress	роздяга́тися (I)	роздягти́ся (I)	
to unfreeze	розморо́жувати (I)	розморо́зити (II)	Acc.
to vomit	рвати (I)	ви́рвати (I)	
to wait	чека́ти (I)	зачека́ти (I)	Acc., Loc.
to wake up	прокида́тися (I)	проки́нутися (I)	Loc.
to wake up	буди́ти (II)	розбуди́ти (II)	Acc.
to want	хоті́ ти (І)	захоті́ ти (I)	Acc.
to warm	пі ді грі ва́ти (I)	пі ді грі́ ти (I)	Acc.
to wash	ми́ти (I)	ви́мити (I)	Acc.
to wash one's face	вмива́тися (I)	вми́тися (I)	
to wash oneself	ми́тися (I)	ви́митися (I)	
to wash, to do	пра́ти (I)	ви́прати (I)	Acc., Instr.
laundry			
to watch	диви́тися (II)	подиви́тися (II)	Acc.
to wear, to carry	носи́ти (II)		Acc.
to weigh	зва́жувати (I)	зва́жити (II)	Acc.
to wish	бажа́ти (I)	побажа́ти (Í)	Acc., Dat.
to work	працюва́ти (I)	попрацюва́ти (I)	Loc., Instr.
to worry	непокої тися (II)	занепокої тися (II)	Acc.
to wrinkle	м'я́ти (I)	пом'я́ти (I)	Acc.
	м'я́тися (I)	пом'ятися (І)	Loc.
to write	писа́ти (Ì)	написа́ти (I)	Acc., Dat.
to yell	крича́ти (II)	кри́кнути (I)	Acc., Dat.